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Virgin Media Finance PLC
Strategic Report
for the vear ended 31 December 2019

The directors present their Strategic Report on Virgin Media Finance PLC for the vear ended 31 December 2019,

For the purposes of this Strategic Report, Directors” Report and financial statements. the Virgin Media Finance
PLC group wili be referred to as ~the group™. Virgin Media Finance PLC the entity will be referred to as “the
company . the group headed by Virgin Media inc. will be reterred to as “the Virsin Media group™. and the group
headed by Liberty Global ple will be referred to as “the Liberty Global group™.

The company is a wholly-owned subsidiary undertaking of Virgin Media Ine. ¢~ Virgin Media™y shich is itselfa
wholly-owned subsidiary of Liberty Global ple (~Liberty Global™).

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES
The Virgin Media group operates under the Virgin Media brand in the United Kingdom {UK) and Ireland.

The group provides broadband internet. fixed-line telephony. mobile and broadeasting services in the LR and
Ireland to both residential and business-to-business (B2B) customers, The group is one of the UKs and Ireland’s
largest providers of residential broadband internet. video and fixed-line telephony services (n terms of the
number of customers. I'he group believes its advanced. deep-fibre cable access network enables it to otfer faster
and higher quality broadband services than its digital subscriber line. or DSL. competitors. As a resuit, it
provides its customers with a leading. nexi-generation broadband service and one of the most advanced
interactive television services available in the UK and frish markets,

The group provides mobile services 1o its customers using a third-party network through mobile virtual network
operators (MYNOH) artangements,

In addition. through the Virgin Media Business brand. the group otfers a broad portfulio of B2B voice. data.
internet. broadband and managed services solutions to small businesses. medium and large enterprises and public
sector organisations in the LiK and Ireland.

At 31 December 2019, the group provided services to 6 million residential cable customers on its network, The
group provides mobile telephony services to 3 million contract mobile customers and 0.3 millivn prepay mobile
customers over third party networks., At 31 December 2019, over 84%0 of residential customers on the group’s
cahle network received mualtiple services and 62%0 were “triple-play™ custamers, receiving broadband internet.

video and fived-line telephony services from the group.

Liberty Global is an international provider of broadband internet. video. fixed-line telephony and mobile
communications  services  to  residential  customers  and  businesses  in Ewrope. Liberty  Global's
operations comprise businesses that provide residential and B2B communications services in (i) the
UK and ireland through Virgin Media. (i1) Belgium through Felenet and (i) Switzerland. Poland and Slovahia
through U PC Holding, {n addition. Liberts Global owns a 30% non-controlling interest in the VodatoneZiggo
JV which provides residential and B2B cormmunications services in the Netherlands

At 31 December 2019, Liberts Global's operations owned and operated networks that passed 25.8
miilion homes and served 2350 million revenue generating units. consisting of 9.3 miflion broadband
internet subscribers. 8.3 miltlion video subscribers and 7.4 million fixed-line telephony subscribers. In
addition. Liberty Global also served 6.3 million mobile subscribers.

The principal activity of the company is to facilitate the group’s financing structure by implementing the group’s
capital management policies. making and tacilitating external borrewings and holding investments in subsidiary
companies. The company 's investments include substantiafly all of the Virgin Media group’s trading operating
companies.

The group’s reporting segments are based on its method of internal reporting to biberty Global and the
information used by its chief executive officer, who is the chief operating decision maker. or CODM. to evaluate
segment performance and make capital allocation decisiens,
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Virgin Media Finance PLC
Strategic Report
for the year ended 31 December 2019

REVIEW OF THE BUSINESS AND FUTURE DEVELOPMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2019. revenue increased by §.3% to £5.168.1 million from £3.150.3 million in
2018 primarily as result of an increase in residential cable revenue and B2B revenue. See further discussion of
revenus under “Performuance asainst Kev Performeance Indicatory below.

Cost of sales increased by 3.3% to £1.708.0 million for the year ended 3 [ December 2019, from £1.621.5 million
in 2008, Cost of sales increased during 2019, comparad to 2018 mainly driven by an increase in programming
and copsyright costs primarily due to higher costs for certain premium and or basic content. an increase in
internet and access costs primarily due to an increase in interconnect and roaming costs offset by a decrease in
mobtle handset and other device costs due to the effect of lower sales volumes and a lower average cost per
handset sold.

Gross profit decreased by 1.9%0 1o £3,460.t million for the vear ended 31 December 2019, from £3.528.8 million
for the vear ended 3t December 2018 primarily due to the reasons detailed above. Gress margin has decreased
by 1.5% to 67.0% for the vear ended 3| December 2019 from 68.3%¢ for vear ended 31 December 2018,

Administrative cxpenses decreased by 14.9%¢ to £2.381.3 million for the vear ended 31 December 2019, from
£2.800.2 millien for the vear ended 31 December 2018, This was partly driven by the release of an impairment
on network assets of £424.7m. partially offset by an increase in depreciation associated with property and
equipment additions related to the installation of customer premises equipment and the expansicn and upgrade of
our networks and other capital initiatives. In addition. related-party fees and allocations. related to our estimated
share of the applicable costs incurred by Liberty Global™s subsidiaries increased to £277.6 million for the vear
ended 31 December 2019. from £036.9 million for the vear ended 31 December 2018. These charges generally
relate to management, finance. tegal. technology and other corporate and administrative services provided to or
by cur subsidiaries. [n addition there was a provision for litigation of £104.7 million refated to a VAT matter in
the UK recognised during 2018.

Finance income decreased to £487.4 million for the vear ended 31 December 2019, tfrom £733.7 million for the
year ended 31 December 2018. The lower interest income arising due to lower average interest rates on related
party loan receivables from other Liberty Global group undertakings and the impact of the strengthening of
pound steriing against the US dollar in 2019 compared to a weakening in 2018, which resuleed in lower foreign
exchange gains in 2019 than gains made on the fair value of the derivative financial instruments in 2018,

Finance costs decreased to £886.1 million for the yvear ended 31 December 2019 from £1.008.9 million for the
vear ended 31 December 2018. The decrease in costs was principally driven by the impact of the strengthening
of pound sterling against the US dollar in 2019 compared to a weakening in 2018, which resulted in tower losses
on the fair value of derivative tinancial instruments in 2019 than foreign exchange losses in 2018, [n addition
there was an overall decrease in interest payable due to lower average outstanding third party debt and lower
weightled average interest rates,
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Yirgin Media Finance PLC
Strategic Report
for the vear ended 31 December 2019

REVIEW OF THE BUSINESS ANDFUTURE DEVELOPMENTS (continued)

Performance against Kev Performance Indicators
Kevente
Residential and B2B revenue includes both subscription and non-subscription revenue.

Cable subscription revenue includes amounts received from subscribers for ongoing services. Cable non-
subscription revenue includes. among other items. channel carriage fees. installation revenue, late fees and
revenue from the sale of equipment.

Residential mobile subscription revenue includes amounts received from subscribers for ongoing services.
Residential mobile non-subscription revenue includes, among other items, interconnect revenue and revenue
from sales of mobile handsets and other devices.

B2B subscription revenue represents revenue from services to certain small or home office {SOHO} subscribers.
SONO subscribers pay a premium price o receive expanded service levels along with broadband internet. video
and fixed-line telephony or mobile services that are the same or similar 1o the mass marketed products offered to
residential subscribers. B2B non-subscription revenue includes revenue from business broadband internet. video.
fixed-line wlephony. mobile and data services offered to medium to large enterprises and on a wholesale basis.
to other operators.

Other revenue primarily includes broadeasting revenue.

Revenue by major category for the years ended 31 December 2019 and 2018 was as follows:

2019 2018 Increase

Revenue: € million £ million (decrease)
Residential revenue

Cable 3,667 3638 4 1.8 %

Mobile 655.9 6063.5 (1.5

Total residential revenue 4.321.0 13019 (35 %

B2B Revenue 775.3 778.0 ({.31%

Other revenue 71.2 704 1.1 %

5.168.1 35,1503 (1.3 %a

The increase in residential cable revenue is due to an incrcase in both the average number of RGUs ' (~Revenue
Generating U nits™)y and increased ARPU ™ (" Average Revenue per Unit™y:

e ol RGLUs increased due 1o the net effect of an increase in the average number of broadband
internet. and fixed-line telephony RGL s, oftset by a devrease in video RGUS.

e The increase in ARPLU is primarily atributable to the net effect of higher ARPU from broadband

internet and video services. offset by lower ARPU from fixed-line telephony services and an
adverse change in RGL mix.
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Virgin Media Finance PL.C
Strategic Report
for the vear ended 31 December 2019

REVIEW OF THE BUSINESS AND FUTURE DEVELOPMENTS (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2019, moebile revenue decreased to £655.9 million from £663.5 million in 2018.
The decrease in mobile revenue relates to a decrease in non-subscription revenue from mobile handset sales.
which tvpically generate refatively low margins. partially offset by £5.8 million of revenue recognised during
2019 in connection with the sale of rights to future commission payments on customer handset insurance
arrangements. This is partially offset by an increase in residential mobile subscription revenue primarily due to
an increase in the average number of mobile subscribers. partially offset by lower ARPU in the UK.

The decrease in B2B revenue is primarily due to lower revenue from data services. installation revenue, revenue
related to business network senvices and revenue from wholesale fixed-line telephony services. partially offset
by an increase in upfront revenue recognised in association with long-term leases of a portion of our network and
an increase in the average number of broadband internet SOHO RGU's in the UK.

The increase in other revenue is largely due to an increase in broadeasting revenue in [reland.

Summary residential cable statistios

Selected statistics for the group’s residential cable customers are shown betow:

20619 2018

Total cable customers 5,953.500 3,946,600
(able products:

Broadband internet 5,649,200 3.600.300

Video 3,967,800 4143100

Fixed-line telephone +.940.600 4923500
Toral cable products 14,557,600 14.666.900
Cahle products per customer (1) 2.45x 247
Triple play penetration 60.8% 63.0%
Cable ARPU (iiy £51.34 £51.24

(11 Each telephone, television and breadband internet subscriber directly connected to the Virgin Media group’s
network counts as one product. Accordingly. a subscriber who receives both telephone and television services
counts as two products. Products may include subscribers receiving some services for free or at a reduced rate in
connection with promotional offers.

(ii) Cable ARPL is calculated by dividing the average monthly subscription revenue {excluding interconnect
fees. channel carriage fees and late fees) for the indicated period. by the average of the opening and closing
number of Customer Relationships for the period.

The total number of cable products fell 10 14.557.600 at 31 December 2019 from 14.666.900 at 31 December
2018, representing a net decrease in products of 109.300.

Nummary mobile statistics

Scleeted statistics for the group’s mobile customers are shown below:

2019 2018
Postpaid mobile customers i) 3,013,209 2. 744300
Prepaid mobile customers (i) _ 263.900 376,700
Total mobile customers 3,277,100 2121.000
Mobile ARPLU (i) £9.19 £9.61

(i3 Our Mobile Subseriber coum represents the number of active subscriber identitication module (S1VD cards in
service rather than services provided. For example. it a Mobile Subscriber has both a data and voice plan on a
smartphone this would equate te one Mobile Subscriber. Altematively. a subscriber who has a voice and data
plan tor a mobile handser and a data plan for a laptop (via a dongle) would be counted as two Mobile

th



Virgin Media Finance PLC
Strategic Report
for the vear ended 31 December 2019

REVIEW OF THE BUSINESS AND FUTURE DEVELOPMENTS (continued)

Subscribers. Customers who do not pay a recurring monthly fee are excluded from our Mobile Subscriber counts
after a 30 day period of inactivity.

ity Mobile monthly average revenue per user ("Mobile ARPUTY is calculated by dividing the average monthh
mobile subscription revenue (excluding sales and late fees) for the indicated period by the average of the
opening and closing balances of total moebile subscribers in service for the period.

The group added 268,900 postpaid subscribers in 2019, Growth in postpatd subscriptions was oftset by a lower
prepaid base, resulting in an overall increase in the group™s mobile base of 136,100 in 2019,

FINANCING

As of 31 December 2019, the group had £12.4948 million of firancial habilities compared with £12.745.6
million as at 31 December 2018, The principal changes to financial liabilities during the vear are discussed as
follows:

In Nlay 2019, Virgin Media Secured Finance ple issued (i) $825.0 million (£622.0 million) principal amount of
2029 VM Dollar Senior Secured Motes and (i) £300.0 millien principal amount of 2029 VN[ 5.25%, Sterling
Senior Secured Notes. Each series of notes sas issued at par and matures on May 15, 2029, The net proceeds
from the issuance of these notes were used to redeem in full (2) £387.0 million outstanding principal amount
under the 2025 VAl 5.5% Sterling Senior Secured Notes, (bj $354.5 million (£267.3 million} outstanding
principal amount under the 2025 VA Dollar Senior Secured Notes and (¢) £300.0 million outstanding principal
amount under the 2024 VAL Sterling Senior Notes. In connection with these transactions. we recognised a loss on
debt modification and extinguishment of £37.4 million.

ln Juiy 20190 Virgin Media Secured Finance ple issued an additional $600.0 million (£452.4 million} principal
amaount of 2029 Y\L Dollar Senior Sccured Notes @t 101.75%0 of par. The net proceeds from the issuance of
these notes were used to redeem in full (1) $447.9 million (£337.7 milliony outstanding principal amount under
the 2021 VNI Dollar Senior Secured Notes and (i) £107.1 million outstanding principal amount under the 2021
VAL Sterling Senior Secured Notes. In August 2019, we issued an additional £40.0 nullion principal amount of
202G VNP 5.25%, Sterling Senior Secured Notes at [03%0 of par. The net proceeds from the issuance of these
notes were used to redeem an equal outstanding principal amount ot 2029 VA1 6.25% Sterling Senior Secured
Notes. [n connection with these transactions. we recognised a net 1oss on debt moditication and extinguishment

of £23.3 million.

in October 2019, Virgin Media SFA Finance Limited entered into v M Facility N, a $3.300.0 million (£2.488.1
million} term loan faciiity . and VM Facility O, a €750.0 million (£633.0 million) term loan facility. both issued
at 39.73%, of par. and Virgin Media Secured Finance Limited issued £400.0 million principal amount of 2030
VA Sterling Senior Secured Notes at par. The net proceeds from these transactions. together with certain other
tunds. were used to (ay prepay in full the $3,400.0 million (£2.563.5 million) vutstanding principal amount on
VA Facility K and «b) redeem in full (1) $1.000.0 million (£754.0 million) vutstanding principal amaunt of the
2026 VN S.25%, Dollar Senior Secured Notes and (2) £300.0 million outstanding principal amount of the 2023
VM 3125% Sterling Senior Secured Notes. In connection with these transactions, we recognised a net loss on
debt moditication and extinguishment ot £53.3 million.

DERIVATIVE INSTRUMENTS AND HEDGING ACTIVITIES

I'he group is exposed to volatility in its cash flows and earnings resulting from changes in interest rates and
foreign currency exchange rates. The group has entered into various derivative instruments with a number of
counterparties to manage this volatility of its cash Hows and earnings.

The group has entered into cross-currency interest rate swaps to manage interest rate and foreign exchange rate
currency exposures resulting from the variable and fixed rates of interest paid on daollar denominated debt
obligations and movements in fair value on certain of its U.S. dollar denominated debt. Additionally. the group
has entered into interest rate swaps to manage interest rate exposures resulting trom the variable rates ot interest
paid on sterling denominated debt obligations and movements in fair value on certain of its sterling denominated
debt. The group has also entered into U.S. dollar forward rate contracts 1o manage foreign exchange rate
currency exposures related to certain committed and forecasted purchases. Sce note 21 to the group financial
statements for Further information on the group’s derivative instruments
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Virgin Media Finance PLC
Strategic Report
for the year ended 31 December 2019

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

Financial risk management

Details of the financial risks and how they are managed are outlined in note 20 to the group financial statements.
The principal financial risks faced by the group are credit risk. interest rate risk. foreign exchange rate nish and
Liquidity risk.

Principal non-financial risks

Virgin Media Finance PLC is a member of the Virgin Media group. which manages the principal non-financial
risks and uncertainties and is headed by Virgin Media Inc. These risks. among others. are discussed in more
detail in Virgin Media Inc.’s annual report. The principal non-financial risks include the following:

.

economic and business conditions and industry trends in the United Kingdom (UK) and [reland.

the competitive environment in the cable television, broadband and telecommunications indusitries in the
L K and Ireland including competitor responses to our products and services:

fluctuations in currency exchange rates and interest rates:

instability in global financial markets, including sovereign debt issues in the European Union (EL) and
related fiscal reforms:

consumer disposable income and spending levels, including the availability and amount of individual
consumer debt:

changes in consumer television viewing and broadband internet usage preferences and habits:

consumer acceptance of our existing service offerings. including our cable television, broadband internet.
fixed-line telephony and mobile and business service offerings, and of new technology, programming
atternatives and other products and services that we may offer in the future;

the group’s ability to manage rapid technological changes:

the group’s ability to maintain or increase the number of subscriptions to our cable television, broadband
internet. fixed-line telephony and mobile service offerings and our average revenue per household:

the group’s ability to provide satisfactory customer service. including support for new and evolving
products and services;

the group’s ability to maintain or increase rates to cur subscribers or to pass through increased costs to our
subscribers:

the impact of the group’s future financial performance. or market conditions generally. on the availability
terms and deploy meni of capital:

changes in. or failure or inabilit to comply with. government regulations in the UK and Ireland and adverse
outcomes from regulatory proceedings:

govemment intervention that impairs the group’s competitive position. including any intervention that
would epen the group's broadband distribution networks to competitors and any adverse change in the
oroup’s accereditations or licenses;:

the group’s ability to obtain regulatory approval and satisfy other conditions necessarsy to close acquisitions
and dispositions. and the impact ot conditions imposed by competition and other regulatory authorities in
connection with acquisitions:

the group’s ability to successfully acquire new businesses and. if acquired. 1o integrate, realise anticipated
efticiencies from. and implement our business plan with respect to, the businesses we have acquired or that

we espect to acquire:

changes tn laws or treaties relating to taxation. or the interpretation thereofl in the UK and lreland:

7



Virgin Media Finance PLC
Strategic Report
for the year ended 31 December 2019

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES (continued)

+  changes in laws and government regulations that may impact the availability and cost of capital and the
derivative instruments that hedge certain of the group’s financial risks:

. our ability to navigate the potential impacts on our business of the LUK s deparwre from the EL:

*  the ability of suppliers and vendors tincluding our third-party wireless network providers under the group’s
MANO arrangements) to timely deliver quality products. equipment. software. services and access:

«  the availability of attractive programming tor our video services and the costs associated with such
programming;

+ uncertainties inherent in the development and integration of new business lines and business strategies:

+ the group’s ability  adequately forecast and plan future nerwork requirements. tnciuding the costs and
benefits associated with the Network Extension:

«  the availability of capital for the acquisition and or development of telecommunications networks and
services:

= problems the group may discover post-closing with the operations. including the internal controis and
financial reporting process. businesses we acquire:

+  leakage of sensitive customer data:

= the outcome of any pending or threatened litigation;

«  the loss of Key employvees and the availability of qualitied personnel:

. changes in the nature of key stratexic relationships with partners and joint venturers:

«  adverse changes in public perception of the “Virgin™ brand, which we and others license from Virgin
Enterprises Limited. and any resulting impacts on the goodwill of customers toward the group: and

+ events that are outside of the proup’s control. such as political unrest in international markets. terrorist
attachs, malicious human acts. natural disasters. pandemics or epidemics (such as the coronavirus (COVID-
1931 and other similar ¢vents

Brexit

The LIK's departure from the EU could have a material adverse eftect on our business, financial condition,
results of operations or liquidity . On 23 June 2016, the UK held a referendum in which voters approved. on an
advisory basis. an exit from the EU. commonty referred to as ~Brevit™,

F'he LK formally exited the EU on 3t Januan 2020, and has now entered into a transition period until 31
December 2020, during which the UK and the EL will negotiate to formalise the future L K-EL relationship with
respect to a number of marters. most notably. trade. Although the UK has ceased to be an EL. member. during
the transition period their trading relationship will remain the same and the LK will continue 1o follow the ELUTs
rules. such as accepting rulings from the European Court ot Justice. and the UK will continue to contribute to the
EU7s budget.

Lneertainty remains as to what specific terms ol separation may be agreed during the transition period. It is
possible that the UK will fail t agree o specific scparation terms with the ELI by the end of the transition
period. which. absent extension. may require the UK to leave the EU under a so-called ~hard Brexit™ or “no-deal
Brexit™ without specitic agreements on trade. tinance and other key elements.




Virgin Media Finance PLC
Strategic Report
for the year ended 31 December 2019

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND L NCERTAINTIES (continued)

The foregoing has caused considerable uncertainty as to Brexit's impact on the free movement of goods.
services, people and capital between the LK and the EL. customer behawviour, economic conditions. interest
rates, currency exchange rates. and availability of capital. Examples of the potential impact Brexit could have on
Liberty Global group’s business. financial condition or results of operations include:

+  changes in foreign currency exchange rates and disruptions in the capital markets:

*  shortages of labour necessary to conduct our business, including our Network Extension in the UK

e disruption to our UK supply chain and related increased cost of supplies;

* aweakened UK economy resulting in decreased consumer demand for our products and services in the
UK:

* legal uncertainty and potentially divergent national laws and regulations as the UK determines which
EL laws and directives to replace or replicate. or where previously implemented by enactment of LK
laws or regulations, to retain. amend or repeal: and

e varicus geopolitical forces may impact the global cconomy and our business. including. for example.
other EUJ member states (in particular those member states where we have operations) proposing
referendums to, or electing to, exit the EU

COVID-19

In March 2020. the World Health Organisation declared the recent outbreak of a novel strain of coronavirus
(COVID-19) two be a global pandemic. [n response to the COVID-19 pandemic. emergency measures have been
imposed by governments worldwide. including travel restrictions. restrictions on social activity and the
shutdown of non-essential businesses.

I'hese measures have adversely impacted the global economy, disrupted global supply chains and created
significant volatility and disruption of financial markets. While it is not currently possible to estimate the
duration and severity of the COVID-19 pandemic or the adverse economic impact resulting from the
preventative measures taken to contain or mitigate its outbreak. an extended period of global economic
disruption could have a material adverse impact on our business. financial condition and results of operations in
future periods.

POST BALAMNCE SHEET EVENTS
Pending joint venture transaction

On 7 May 2020, Liberty Global entered into a Contribution Agreement with. among others. Telefonica. SA
{Telefonica). Pursuant to this agreement, Liberty Global and Telefonica agreed to form a 30:30 joint venture.
which will combine Virgin Medias operations in the UK with Telefonica’s mobile business in the LK to create
a nationwide integrated communications provider.

The completion of this transactien is subject to certain conditions, including competiton clearance by the
applicable regulatory authorities. [t is anticipated that the transaction will close around the middle of 2021. The
Contribution Agreement also includes customary termination rights, including a right of the parties to terminate
the agreement if the transaction has not closed within twenty-four months following the date of the agreement.
which may be extended by six months under certain circumstances.

Financing transactions

In May 2020, Virgin Media Trade Receivables Financing plc, a third-party special purpose financing entity. was
created for the purpose of facilitating the offering of certain notes. These notes are collateralised by certain trade
receivables of Virgin Media. creating a variable interest in which Virgin Media is the primary bencficiary and,
accordingly, Virgin Media, and ultimatels Liberts Global, are required to consolidate Virgin Media |rade
Receivables Financing ple. The offering of these notes resulted in net proceeds of £2 144 miflion.
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Virgin Media Finance PLC
Strategic Report
for the vear ended 31 December 2019

POST BALANCE SHEET EVENTS (continued)
In June 2020, Virgin Media completed various financing transactions, as further described below,
Senior notes transactions

The group issued 2030 senior notes with principal amounts of $675 million. he net proceeds. together with the
May 2020 proceeds were used to redeem in full €460 million and $388.7 million outstanding principal amount of
2025 semor notes.

The group issued an additional 2030 senior notes with principal amounts of $230 million €300 million. The net
proceeds ffom the issuance of these notes were used (1) to redeem in full $497 million outstanding principal
amounts of existing 2024 senior notes and $123.1 million and £44.1 million outstanding principal amounts of
existing 2022 senior notes and (2) for general corporate purposes.

The new secured notes rank pari-passu with the group's existing secured notes and subject to certain exceptions,
share in the same guarantees and security granted in favour ot its existing secured notes.

Senior secured notes transactions

I'he group issucd 2030 senior secured notes with principal amounts of 3630 million and £450 million. The net
proveeds from the issuance of these notes were used (1) o redeem in full £525 million outstanding principal
amounts of existing 2027 sentor secured notes. (29 o redeem in full £360 million cutstanding principal amounts
of existing 2029 senior secured notes. (3) £30.0 million of the £321.3 million cutstanding principal amount of
existing 2023 senior secured notes.

The new senior secured notes rank pari-passu with the group's existing senior secured notes and senior secured
credit facility, and subject to certain exceptions. share in the same guarantees and security granted in favour of
its existing senior secured notes.

Vendor financing notes transactions

Virgin Media Vendor Financing Notes 111 Designated Activinn Company [ Virgin Media Financing 111 Company )
and Virgin \edia Vendar Financing Notes 1V Designated Activity Company {Virgin Media Financing 1V
Company. and together with Virgin Media Financing 111 Company. the 2020 VM Financing Companies) were
created for the purpose of issuing certain vendor financing notes. The 2020 VM Financing Companies are third-
party special purpese financing entities that are not consolidated by Virgin Media or Liberty Global.

Virgin Media Financing 11T Company issucd vendor financing notes with principal amounts of £300 million and
£400 million Virgin Aledia Financing 1V Company issued vendor financing netes with principal amounts of
$300 million. The net proceeds from the June 2020 Vendor Financing Notes were used by the 2020 VA
Financing Companies to purchase certain vendor-tinanced receivables of Virgin Media and its subsidiarics from
previously-existing third-party special purpose financing entities (the original VM Financing Companies) and
various other third parties.

FUTURE OUTLOOK

The directors will continue to review management policies in light of changing trading and market conditions.
Farther detail of the future outlook of the group. is provided in Virgin Media Inc’s financial statements and
annual report for 2019, which are available from the company secretary at Virgin Media. 500 Brook Drive.
Reading. United Kingdom, RG2 6UU and on Liberty Global™s website at www libertyglobal com.

SECTION 172 STATEMENT

This statement is intended to disclose how our directors have approached and met their responsibilitics under
5172 Companies Act 2006.

In fine with Liberty Global's goal of enhancing the long-term value for the benetit of us sharcholders. the

directors of the Virgin Media oversee the management of the group. (o help assure that the interests of our
shareholders are served.

10



Virgin Media Finance PLC
Strategic Report
for the vear ended 31 December 2019

SECTION 172 STATEMENT (continued)

The directors of the group. apply the Corporate Governance Guidelines (page 13} essential to our business
integrity and performance. Theretore. as part of group operations as a whole consider:

¢ long-term consequences of decisions:

* employees” interests:

*  business relationships with suppliers and customers:

e the impact of our operations on the environment and communities in which we operate: and

s the need to act fairly between shareholders.

The level of engagement of the directors is critical in the group’s successful investment in the infrastructure and
platforms that empower our customers to make the most of the digital revolution and connect to the
entertainment, experiences and people they love. We believe that our scale and sy nergies with our partners help
bring the best connectivity and entertainment to our customers and. during 2019, the directors provided
thoughtful guidance to cnsure that we enhanced and expanded our nerworks wisely. investing with purpose in
the technology. taleat and territories with the most potential.

Customers/Partnerships — Virein Media provides its customers with a leading. next-generation broadband
service. onc of the most advanced interactive television services available in the UK and Irish markets and
mobile services. We believe our relationships with our partners help us deliver unique products and services to
our customers. The continued strategic involvement by the directors in these decisions to help foster these
relationships is critical to the group’s long term success.

Responsibility — Community & Environment — As part of Virgin Media's strategy. we are committed to
growing a responsible and sustainable business. Qur vision of using digital to make good things happen focuses
on two pillars; growing responsibly and sustainably and doing more good with digital. As outlined in the
Directors” Report. we have outlined five sustainability goals to ensure that our growth and contribution to the
L K is delivered in a way that's good for people and the environment.

People - At Virgin Media. we know building an inclusive environment is essential to our grewth. We're working
on building a fully inclusive culture. celebrating everybody's individuality and differences. We want to empower
our people, so they feel valued, limitless and inspired to help build meaningful connections. The Directors’
Report provides further information on Virgin Media's policy on employment and disabled employees.

Consideration of these factors and other relevant matters is embedded into all Virgin Media group decision-
making. strategy development and risk assessment throughout the vear. Further information is available on our
website: https:"www . virginmedia.com, corporate‘sustainabil ity.

On behalf of the board

(A

R G McNeil
Director

28 September 2020



Virgin Media Finance PLC
Directors’ Report
for the vear ended 31 December 2019

The directors present their report and the audited financial statements for the group and company for the year
ended 31 December 2019,

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The group made a profit for the vear. after tax. ol £377.1 million (2018: £381.6 milliont. T'he directors have not
recommended the payment of a dividend (2018: £nil).

DIRECTORS AND THEIR INTERESTS

The directors who served during the year and thereafter were as follows:

W T Castell tappointed 9 September 2019, resigned 9 Mareh 2020)

R 3 Dunn (resigned 9 September 2019)

AMT Fries

MO Hilzi

R (i MeNeil tappointed 9 MVarch 2020}

T Mockridge (resigned Ll June 2019}

A CMurray (appointed 18 July 2019, resigned 5 August 2019)

S-P Pascu tappointed 3 March 2020)

C B E Withers tappointed 23 April 2020)

The directors of the company bave been indemnitied against hability in respect ol proceedings brought by third
parties, subject to the conditions set out in the Companies Act 2006, Such qualifving third party indemnity

provision is in force for directors serving during the financial year and as at the date ot approving the Directors’
Report.

EMPLOYMENT POLICIES AND DISABLED EMPLOYEES

The group remains committed te the continuing introduction and practice of progressive employment policies
which reflect changing business. social and employ ee needs.

The group aims to ensure that everyone connected to it is treated fairly and equally. whether they are a current or
tormer member of staff. job applicant. customer or supplier.

Nobody should be discriminated against. either directly or indirectly, on the grounds of gender, gender
reassignment. marital status, pregnangy, race. ethnie origin. colour. nationality, national origin, disability, sexual
orientation, religion or beliel. age. political aftiliaticn or trade union membership. The policy applies to anyone
who works for. who has worked for or who applies to work tor Virgin Media or its partaers. That means
permanent, temporary. casual or part-time statf anvone on a fixed-term contract. agency staff and consultants
working with the group, ex-employees and people applying for jobs. This applies to all aspects of employ ment.
ineluding recruitment and training.

The group gives tull consideration to applications from employees with disabilitics where they can adequately
fulfil the requirements of the job. Depending on their skills and abilities. employees with a disability have the
same opportunities for promotion. career development and training as other emplovees. Where existing
employees become disabled. it is the group’s policy 1o provide continuing employment wherever practicable in
the same or an alternative position and to provide appropriate training to achieve this aim.

In ling with Liberty Global™s ~Code of Business Conduet’. the group’s employees and directors are expected to
display responsible and ethical behavicur. to fellow consistently both the meaning and intent of this Code and 1o
act with integrity in all of the group’s business dealings. Managers and supervisors are expected (o take such
action as is necessary and appropriate to ensure that the group’s business processes and practices are in full
compliance with the Code.



Virgin Media Finance PLC

Directors’ Report
for the year ended 31 December 2019

EMPLOYMENT POLICIES AND DISABLED EMPLOYEES (continued)

Employee Involvement

The Virgin \ledia group is dedicated to increasing the practical involvement of individuals in the running of its
business. [t seeks to achieve this as follows:

s all employees are encouraged to understand the aims of the Virgin Media group and of their own
business area and to contribute to improving business performance through their knowledge.
experience, ideas and suggestions. This requires strong communication to ensure that employees are
briefed as widely as possible about activities and developments across Virgin Media. The online news
channel. open forums. newsletters and team meetings play important roles n this. as do the
development of people management skills and the ongoing conversations about performance and
development which underpin mid-year and year-end reviews:

» the Virgin Media group ensures that all employees are involved and consulted through ~Voice™ which
operates at a national, divisicnal and local level. [t enables employees and employers to have an open
and transparent relationship with a flow of information. 1t is focused around sharing information.
involving employees in decision making, gaining access to knowledge and experience or resoelving
differences of opinion. Involving emplovees in decision making enhances confidence and job
satisfaction, creates a sense of belonging and empowerment. reduces stress and impacts positively on

wellbeing.

The Virgin Media group fosters a team spirit among employees and their greater involvement by oftering
participation in bonus or local variable reward schemes and team development opportunities. Virgin Media also
operdtes various recognition schemes which are designed to reward emplovees for behaviours which are
consistent with the Virgin Media values and has a volunteering scheme which allows employees to take a day
gach year to volunteer with a charity or organisation of their choice. The group remains committed to the
continuing introduction and practice of progressive employment policies which reflect changing business. social
and employee needs.



¥irgin Media Finance PLC
Directors” Report
for the year ended 31 December 2019

ENVIRONMENTAL AND SUSTAINABILITY POLICIES

Virgin Nedia is committed to growing a responsible and sustainable business. [his means ensuring that our
growth and contributton to the UK is delivered in a way that's good for people and the environment.

In 2015, we sct five sustainability goals to:
e (Create opportunities for 100,000 small businesses to grow in the UK s economy through digital:
e |mprove the sustainability performance of every new product:
e Grow our business without increasing our carbon footprint:
e Aurture an engaged workforce which represents the diversity of our customers and communities: and

e Suppert one million disabled people with the skills and confidence to get into and stay in work by the
end of 2020.

The first four goals form part of our “5 in 57 sustainability goals and our overall “Digital for Good” strategy
which concluded in 2019, The last goal. to support a miltion disabled people. will run until the end of 2020.

Each goal is owned by a member of the Virgin Nedia Executive Committee and we have a dedicated
Sustainability team which facilitates and communicates our progress to becoming a more sustainable business.

We're pleased to say that we made positive progress against all our tive goals last year.

While growing our business. we continued to cut our operational carbon foorprint (Scepe 1 and 2) with a
reduction of 43% since 2014 across UK and lreland. For the first time we sourced 100°%s of our contracted
electricin from renewable sources. We also made significant strides towards our zero oftice waste to landfll

3

target. with only 3% going to landtitl compared to 10”0 in 2018,

Scope’s Support to Work employment programme, tunded by Virgin Media helped thousands ot disabled
jobseekers last year. More than 340,000 disabled people were provided with advice. skills and confidence o
find the right job for them via the scheme’s self-service and tailored programmes.

We're now in the process of developing a new strategy and a set of long term sustainability targets which align
to the kev material issues as identified by our people. customers and the communities we serve. This wiil be
published later in 2020.

Virgin Media communicates apdates on performance and key highlights through its dedicated sustainability
website: www virginmedia.com ‘sustainability.

GOING CONCERN

As Virgin Media Finance PLC is either a dircet or indirect parent of all of the trading companies in the Virgin
Media group. these consolidated financial statements include substantially all of the trade and assets of the
overall Virgin Media group. Whilst forecasts and projections. which take account of reasonably possible changes
1 trading performance. have not been prepared at a Virgin Media Finance PLC zroup level. they have been
prepared for the Virgin Media group as a whole. These forecasts and projections showed that cash on hand.
together with cash from operations and the undrawn revolving credit facility. are expected to be sutficient for the
Virgin Media group's and hence the group’s cash requirements through to at least 12 manths from the date of
this report.

Faking into account these forecasts and projections and afier making enquiries. the directors have a reasonable
expectation the group has adequate suppert and resources 1o continue in operational existence for the foreseeable
Future.

For these reasons the directors continue o adopt the going concern basis in preparing these financial statements,
Consideration of the potential impact of COVID-19 has not altered this conclusion.

)



Virgin Media Finance PLC
Directors’ Report
for the vear ended 31 December 2019

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

‘The yroup is committed to conducting business with honesty . integrity and respect. Corporate governance affects
the way the group directs its relationship with its stakeholders. The group believes that the highest standards ot
corporate governance are essential to the group’s business integrity and performance. The group has adopted a
number of policics and procedures to support solid corporate governance in every area of the group’s operations.

Corporate Governance Guidelines adopted by the Liberty Globai Board of Directors serve as a framework for
Board governance over the affairs of the group for the benefit of its shareholders. These include Code of
Business Conduct. Code of Ethics, Audit Committee Charter. Compensation Committee Charter. Nominating
and Corporate Governance Committee Charter and Succession Planning Committee Charter.

Further information on Corporate Governance is available to the public on Liberty Global's website at
www _liberty global.com or under the heading “Corporate Respensibility”. The information on the website is not
part of this report.

DISCLOSURE OF INFORMATION TO THE AUDITOR

So far as each person who was a director al the date of approving this repornt is aware. there is ne relevant audit
information, being information required by the auditor in connection with preparing its report. of which the
auditor is unaware. Having made enquiries of fellow directors and the group's auditor, each director has taken

all the steps that he'she is obliged to take as a director in order to mahe himself herself aware of any relevant
audit information and to establish that the auditor is aware of that information.

AUDITOR

KPAG LLP will be re-appointed under section 48723 of the Companies Act 2006.

Signed on behalf of the board of directors

]

iy

C B E Withers
Director

Approved by the directors on 28 September 2020

wh



Virgin Media Finance PLC

Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities in respect of the Strategic Report, the Directors’ Report
and Financial Statements

for the vear ended 31 December 2019

The directors are responsible for preparing the Strategic Report. the Directors” Report and the group and parent
company financial statements in accordance with applicable law and regulations.

Company law requires the directors 1o prepare group and parent company financial statements for each financial
year. Under that law they have elected to prepare the group financial statements in accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the European Union (IFRSs as adopted by the EL") and applicable
law and have elected to prepare the parent company financial statements in accordance with UK accounting
standards and applicable law (LUK Generally Accepted Accounting Practice). including FRS 101 Reduced
Disclosure Framework.

Under company law the directors must not approve the financial statements unless they are satisfied that they
give a true and tair view of the state of affairs of the group and parent company and of their profit or loss for that
period. In preparing each of the group and parent company financial statements, the directors are required to:

*  select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;
«  make judgements and estimates that are reasonable, relevant, reliable and prudent:

e for the group financial statements. state whether they have been prepared in accordance with IFRSs as
adopted by the EU:

+  for the parent company financial statements. state whether applicable U K accounting standards have been
followed, subject to any matertal departures disclosed and cxplained in the tinancial statements:

e assess the group and parent company s ability to continue as a going concern. disclosing. as applicable.
matters related to going concern: and

* use the going concern basis of accounting unless they either intend to liquidate the group or the parent
company or Lo cease operations. or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors are responsible tor keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain the

parent company s rransactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy al any time the financial position of the

parent company and enable them o ensure that its financial statements comply with the Companies Act 2006.

They are responsible for such internal control as they determine is necessary to enable the preparation of

tinancial statements that are free from material misstatement. whether due 10 fraud or error. and have general
responsibility for taking such steps as are reasonably open to them to sateguard the assets of the group and o
prevent and detect fraud and other irregularitics



Independent Auditor’s Report to the Members of Virgin Media Finance PLC

I Qur opinion is unmodified

We have audited the financial statements of Virgin Media Finance PLC (“the Company ™ for the year ended 31
December 2019 which comprise the group income statement and statement of comprehensive income. group
balance sheet. group statement of changes in equity. group cash tlow statement. company balance sheet.
company Statement of changes in equity and the related notes. including the accounting pelicies in note 2 of the
group financial statements and note | of the company financial statements.

In our opinion:

« the financial statements give a true and fair view of the state of the Group's and of the parent Company s
atfairs as at 31 December 2019 and of the Group's profit for the year then ended:

e the group financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with Intcrnational Financial
Reporting Standards as adopted by the European L nion;

* the parent Company financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with LK accounting
standards. inctuding FRS 101 Reduced Disclosure Frameweork; and

s the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act
2006.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accerdance with International Standards on Auditing (UK (7ISAs {UN)7) and
applicable law. Qur responsibilities are described below. We have fulfilled our ethical responsibilities under.
and are independent of the Group in accordance with, UK ethical requirements including the FRC Ethical
Standard as applied to listed entities. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is a sufficient and
appropriate basis for our opinion.

2 Key audit matters: our assessment of risks of material misstatement

Key audit matters are those matters that. in our professional judgement, were of most significance in the audit of
the financial statements and include the most signiticant assessed risks of material misstatement i whether or not
due to fraud} identified by us. including those which had the greatest effect on: the overall audit strategy: the
allocation of resources in the audit: and directing the efforts of the engagement team. These matters were
addressad in the context of our audit of the financial statements as a whole. and in forming our opinion thercen,
and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. In arriving at our audit opinion above. the key audit
matters. in decreasing order of audit significance. were as follows:

Group: Capitalisation of costs associated with construction and installation activities

FThe Risk  Overstatement of Profus

Capitalisation of both internal and external costs incurred {part of which is included in the net book value of
plant, property and equipment of £6.099.9 m (201 8: £5.423.0 m})) associated with the capital projects undertaken
by the group involve estimation of the amount of time and costs that should be capitalised. The most significant
risk s that the group may inappropriately capitalise construction and installation costs. The key risks in
determining if construction and installation costs qualify for recognition as an asset. include whether the costs
are directly auributable to bringing the asset to the tocation and condition necessary for it to be capable of
operating in the manner intended by the group: it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the
item will flow to the group. and if the cost van be measured reliably.

The effect of these marters is that. as part of our risk assessment. we determined that carry ing amount of
Network assets of £3.304.I1m has a high degree of estimation uncertainty. with a potential range of reasonable

outcormnes greater than our materiality for the financial statements as a whole, and possibly many times that
amount.



Independent Auditor’s Report to the Members of Virgin Media Finance PLC

(Jur Response
Our procedures included:

Control operations — We evaluated the design. implementation and tested operating effectiveness of key internal
controls in place used for identifying which construction and installation costs should be capitalised.

Personnel interviews — We challenged the amount of internal costs capitalised during the year by comparing 10
budgets. interviewing department heads to determine the level of time individuals have spent on capital items.
and analy sed the changes o significant estimates utilised by the group to determine the amount of internal costs
to be capitatised (if any 1. and other changes in the business with a potential impact on cost capitalisation during
the year.

fests of deiails - For both internal and external costs capitalised we selected a sample of plant. property and
equipment additions on costs capitalised and assessed the nature of the costs thereby assessing the
appropriateness of the group’s cost capitalisation conclusions,

Parent Company: Recoverability of the Company’s investments in subsidiaries

The risk {ow risk hegh value:

I'he carrying amount of the Company s investments in subsidiaries of £4.699.4 m (2018: £4.699 4 m) represents
69.6% of the company ’s total assets. The recoverability is not at a high rish of significant misstatement or
subject to significant judgement. However, due to their materiality in the context of the financial statements. this
is considerad to be the area that had the greatest eftect on our overall audit of the parent company.

Ly resposise
Our procedures included:

Lesty of detadl We compared the carrying amount of material investments with the relevant subsidiaries’ balange
sheet to identify whether their net assets. being an approximartion of their minimum recoserable amount. were in
exeess of their carrying amount and assessing whether those subsidiaries have historically been protit-making.

tssessing subsidiary audits We assessed the work performed by the subsidiary audit teams ol those subsidiaries
where audits are performed and considering the results of that work on those subsidiaries” profits and net assets.

3 Our application of materialiry and an overview of the scope of our audit

Materiality for the group financial statements as a whole was setatr £51.6m (2018: £51m), determined with ‘
reference to a benchmark of revenue of £3.168m. of which it represents 1.0 (2018 1%4),

Materiality for the parent Company financial statements as a whole was setat £5 10001004 { 2018: £40.000.000,
determined with reference to a benchmark of Company total assets. of which it represents (0.8%6(2018: 0.7%).

W e agreed 1o report to management any correcied or uncorrected identified musstatements exceeding
£2.500.000. in addition to other identified misstatements that warranted reporting on qualitative grouwnds.

fhe group’s reporting components comprise the UK and Ircland. we subjectad the UK component to a full scope
audit for group purposes and the Irish component 1o specified risk-tocused audit procedures. 'he latter was not
individually financially significant encugh to require a full scope audit for group purpuses, but did present
specific individual risks that needed 10 be addressed.

4 We have nothing to report on going concern’

The [Dreetors have prepared the financial statements on the going concern basis as they do not intend to
liquidate the Company or the Group or to cease their operations. and as they have concluded that the Company s
and the Group’s financial position means that this is realistic. They have also concluded that there are ao
material uncertainties that could have cast significant doubt over their abilitv to continue as a going concern for
at feast a year from the date of approval of the financial statements (“the going concern period ™).




Independent Auditor's Report to the Members of Virgin Media Finance PLC

Our responsibility is to conclude on the appropriateness of the Directors™ conclusions and. had there been a
material uncerainty related to going concern. 1© make reference to that in this audit report. However. as we
cannot predict all future events or conditions and as subsequent events may result in outcomes that are
inconsistent with judgements that were reasonable at the time they were made, the absence of reference to a
material uncertainty in this auditor's report is not a guarantee that the group or the company will continue in
operation.

In our evaluation of the Directors’ conclusions. we considered the inherent risks to the Group’s and Company s
business model. including the impact of Brexit, and analvsed how those risks might affect the Group’s and
Coempany s financial resources or ability 1o continue operations over the going concern period. We evaluated
thase risks and concluded that they were not significant enough to require us to perform additional audit
procedures.

Based on this work. we are required to report to you it we have concluded that the use of the going concern basis
of accounting is inappropriate or there is an undisclosed material uncertainty that may cast significant doubt over
the use of that basis for a period of at least a vear from the date of approval of the financial statements.

We have nothing to report in these respects. and we did not identify going concern as a keyv audit matter.
5 We have nothing to report on the other information in the Annual Report

The directors are responsible for the other information presented in the Annual Report together with the financial
statements. Qur opinion on the tinancial statements does not cover the other information and. accordingly. we
do net express an audit opinien or. except as explicitly stated below_ any form of assurance conclusion thercon.

Our responsibility is to read the other information and. in doing so. consider whether. based on our financial
statements audit work, the information therein is materially misstated or inconsistent with the financial
statements or our audit knowledge. Based solely on that work we have not identified material misstatements in
the other information:

Strategic report and directors’ report

Based solely on our work on the other information:

e we have not identified material misstatements in the strategic report and the directors’ report:

* in our opinion the information given in those reports for the financial year is consistent with the financial
statements; and

e inour opinion those reports have been prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 2006.

6 We have nothing to report on the other matters on which we are required to report by exception

Under the Companies Act 2006, we are required to report to you it in our opinion:

+ adequate accounting records have not been kept by the parent Company. or returns adequate for our audit
have not been received from branches not visited by us: or

* the parent Company financial statements are not it agreement with the accounting records and returns: or

e certain disclosures of dircctors” remuneration specified by law are not made: or

* we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audir.

We have nothing to report in these respects.
7 Respective responsibilities

Directors” responsibilities

As explained more fully In their statement set out on page 16. the directors are responsible for: the preparation of
the financial statements including being satisfied that they give a true and tuir view: such internal control as they
determine is necessary 10 enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement.
whether due to fraud or error: assessing the Greup and parent Company’s ability te continue as a going concern,
disclosing. as applicable. matters related o going concern: and using the going concern basis of accounting
unless they either intend to liquidate the Group or the parent Company or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.



Independent Auditor’s Report to the Members of Virgin Media Finance PLC

Awditor’y responsibilities

Our objectives are (0 obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free
from material misstatement. whether due to fraud or error, and to issue our opinion in an auditor’s report.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but does not guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance
with 1ISAs (LK) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists, Misstatements can arise from fraud or
error and are considered material if. individually or in aggregate. they could reasonably be expected 10 influence
the economic decisions ot users taken on the basis of the financial statements.

A fuller  description  of  our  responsibiliies  is  provided on  the FRCTs  website  at
wivw (e org uk auditorsresponsibilities.
8 The purpose of our audit work and to whom we owe our responsibilities

1 his report is made solely w the Company s members. as a body . in accordance with Chapter 3 ot Part 16 of the
Companies Act 2006. Our zudit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the Company’s members
thuse matters we are required to state to them in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose. [0 the fullest
extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the Company and the
Compans s members. as a body. for our audit work. for this report. or for the opinions we have formed.

Katharine L’Estrange (Senior Statutory Auditor)
far and on behalf of KPMG [LLP, Statutory Auditor
Chartercd locountants
! Sovereign Square
Sovereign Street
l.eeds
L51 4DA
q_q September 2020
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Virgin Media Finance PLC

Group Income Statement and Statement of Comprehensive Income

for the vear ended 31 December 2019

Revenue
Cost of sales
Gross profit

Administrative cxpenses
Group operating profit

Finance income
Finance costs
Net finance costs

Profic before tax
Tax expense

Profit for the year
Other Comprehensive Income

Items that will not be reclussified wo profit or losy
Actuarial (losses) 7 gains on defined benefit pension plans
Tax on defined benefit pension plans

Trems that will or may be subsequently reclassified to profit or loss
Impaet of movements in cash flow hedges
Exchange differences on the retranslation of foreign operations

Total comprehensive income for the year attributable to equity
holders
Total comprehensive income attributable to:

Onwners of the parent
Nor-contrelling interests

T'he notes on pages 23 to 75 form part of the financial statements.

All results relate 1o continuing operations.

Notes

e

2019 2018

£ million £ million
51681 31505
_(1,708.0) _1e2Ls)
346001 3.528.8
(23813 (2.800.23
1.078.8 728.6
187 4 7337
__(886.1) _{1.008.9)
(398.7) (2332
6801 1734
1103.0) (88.8)
577.10 3846
(7.2 8.5
1.0 (1.4}

(6.2} 7.1

5.4 37

18.2 6.4

236 12.1
504.5 403.8
3738 396.0

18. 78
3945 103.8




Virgin Media Finance PLC
Group Balance Sheet
as at 31 December 2019

Nop-current assets

Intangible assets

Property, plant and equipment
Financial assets

Trade and other receivables
Deferred tax assets

Defined benefit pension plan asset

Current assets

Financial assets

Trade and other receivables
Inventories

Cash and short term deposits

Total assets

Current liabilities
Urade and other payables
Financial iiabilities
Provisions

Non-current habilities

Trade and other payables

Financial liabilities

Provisions

Defined benetit pension plan liability

TFotal liabilities
Net assets

Capital and reserves

Equity share capital

Share premiwm accaunt

Other capital reserves

Unrealised pains and losses
Foreign curreney transtation reserve
Retained earnings

Virgin Media Finance PLC group shareholders’ equity

Non-controlling interests
Total equiry

The notes on pages 25 to 75 form part of the tinancial statements.

Notes

10

L6
17
15

16
37
19

27

24

24
24
24
24

31 December

31 December

2019 2018
£ million £ million
2443 2.561.2
6.098.0 5423
34229 55879
36.3 374
1.344.2 1.645.3
86.4 897
15,6321 15.344.6
823 1431
630.9 628.5
516 60.7
33.9 16,2
821.9 848.5
16,434.0 16,1931
(1.3910.9) (1.663.0)
(2.031.5) (20031}
(3.6} (5.3
(3.626.8}) (3.681.6)
126.8) 136.8)
(104635 (10.732.3)
(1249 11236y
(7.0 (7.8)

(10.025. 1)

(14.249.9)

(10.501.0)

(14.582.6}

27041 1.610.5
0.1 0.1
625.9 6259
(2.093.6) (7.099.1y
10.7 5.3
203 1.1
3.572.8 3.027.0
31457 13703
__ 389 0.2
I T 16103

These financial statements were approved by the directors on 28 September 2020 and are signed on their behalf

by:
R G MceNeid

Lirector
Company Registration Number: 03061787
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Virgin Media Finance PLC
Group Cash Flow Statement
for the vear ended 31 December 2019

Operating activities
Profit for the year

lfjustments to reconcile profit for the vear attributable 1o cquity
holders of the parent to net cash inflow from operating activities
Depreciation
Amortisation of intangible assets
Impairment of network assels
Net finance costs
Share-based payments
Income taxes
Gaing ot disposal of praperty. plant and equipment
Unrealised losses{gains] on derivative instrurents
Non-cash foreign exchange movements
Decrease in trade and other receivables
Decrease { Increase) in inventories
( Decreasc)/increase in prepay ments and other assets
Decrease in trade and other payables
Increase in accruals, deferred income and other current liabilities
Increase.idecrease) in deferred income and other long term liabilities
Decrease in provisions
Net cash inflow provided by continuing operating activities

Net cash inflow from operating activities

Investing activities

Purchase of property. plant and equipment

Loans (to} repayment from parent and group undertakings
Proceeds on sile of property. plant and equipment
Acyuisition net of cash acquired

Change n restricted cash

Interest received

Net cash outflow from investing activities

Financing activities

Interest paid

Settlement of cross currency interest rate swaps
New horrowings, net of financing fees
Repayment of borrowings

Capital lease pavments

Net cash outflow from financing activities

Effect ofexchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at | January
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December

I'he notes on pages 25 to 735 form part of the financial statements,
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Virgin Media Finance PLC
Notes to the Group Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2019

1

Authorisation of financial statements and statement of compliance with IFRS

The consolidated financial statements of \ irgin Media Finance PLC for the year ended 3| December 2019 were
authorised for issue by the board of directors on 28 September 2020 and the Group Balance Sheet was signed
on the board's behalf by R G MeNeil. Virgin Media Finance PLC is a public limited company incorporated and
domiciled in the UK. The company’s shares are not publicly traded although the Senior “otes issued by the
company are registered on the Luxembourg Stock Exchange.

Accounting policies

The principal accounting policies adopted by the group are set out below and have all been applicd consistently
throughout the current year and the preceding year except as discussed below.

Basis of preparation

Notwithstanding net current liabilities of £2.804.9 million and nct liabitities £2.608.3 million as at 31 December
2019 for the Group and Company respectively and a profit for the Group for the year of £377.1 million, the
financial statements have been approved on the assumption that the group remains a going concern. The
following paragraphs summarise the basis on which the directors have reached their conclusion.

[t is Virgin Media's practice for operational and financial management to be undertaken at a group tevel rather
than for individual entities that are wholly owned by the group. Treasury operations and cash management for
all of Liberty Global's wholly owned subsidiaries are managed on a Liberty Global group basis. As part of
normal business practice, regular cash flow forecasts for both short and long term commitments are undertaken
at group level.

As Virgin Media Finance PLC is either a direct or indirect parent of substantiatly all of the trading companies in
the Virgin Media group. these consolidated financial statements include substantially all of the trade and assets
of the overall Virgin Media group. Whilst forecasts and projections. which take account of reasonably possible
changes in trading performance, have not been prepared at a Virgin Media Finance PL.C group level. they have
been prepared for the Virgin Media group as a whole. These indicate that cash on hand. together with cash from
operations. repayment of amounts due to Virgin Media from the Liberty Global group and undrawn revolving
credit facilities, are expected w be sufficient for the Group’s cash requirements through to at least |2 months
from the approval of these financial statements.

Whilst the detaiied cash flow forecasts are prepared at the group level, the directors have also assessed the
position of the company . Notwithstanding net liabilities of £2,608.3 million as at 31 December 209, this
assessment indicates that. taking account of reasonably possible downsides. the company will have sufficient
resources. through funding from fellow subsidiary companies to meet its liabilities as they fall due for that
period.

As with any company placing reliance on other group entities for financial support. the directors acknowledge
that there can be no certainty that this support will continue although. at the date of approval of these financial
statements. they have no reason to believe that it will not do so. Consequently. the directors are confident that
the Company will have sufficient funds to continue to meet its liabilities as they fall due for at least 12 months
from the date of approval of the financial statements and have prepared the financial statements on a going
concern basis. Consideration of the potential impact ot COVID-19 has not altered this conclusion.

Variable interest entities

On 30 November 2018, in connection with certain 1.iberty Global group reorganisations. the group completed
the transfer of Liberty Property Holdco | Limited and Liberny Property Holdeo [I Limited from the group to
Liberty Property Holdeo 111 Limited. another subsidiary of Liberty Global group outside of Virgia Media group.
Liberty Property Holdco | Limited. Liberty Property Holdco 1 Limited and Liberty Property Holdeo [T are
collectivels referred to as “the Libernn Property Companies.” The assets held by the Liberty Property
Companies are used by the proup creating a variable interest in the Liberty Property Companies for which the
wroup is the primary beneficiary and. accordingly. the group is required to consolidate the Liberty Property
Companies.

-3
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Virgin Media Finance PLC
Notes to the Group Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2019

2

Accounting policies (continued)

New standards, amendments and interpretations adopted by the group
The following standards and interpretations have been issued with an effective date for accounting periods
beginning after the date of these financial statements:

In January 2016, IFRS 16, Leases (IFRS 16), was issued which results in lessees recognising right-of-use
{ROL) assets and lease habilities on the statement of financial position with additional disclosures abouwt leasing
arrangements. 1IFRS 16 also eliminates the classification of leases as either operating leases or finance leases by
a lessee. The main impacts of the adoption of this standard are (i) the recognition of ROU and lease liabilities in
our consolidated statement of financial position for leases previously accounted for as operating leases and (i)
the replacement of operating lease expense with a depreciation charge for ROU assets and interest expense for
lease liabilities.

This change results in a front-loaded total fease expense versus the previous straight-line operating lcase
expense.

The group adopted {(FRS 16 on January 1. 2610 by using the modified retrospective approach. The group
applied the following practical expedients and options:

« lp transition. the group did not reassess which existing contracts are or contain leases. In addition, we
did not use hindsight during transition:

¢ The group did not apply the practical expedient thar permits o lessee to account for lease and non-lease
components in a contract as a single lease component and. accordingly. the group will continue 1w
account for these companents separately:

*  The group did not recognize rght-ot-use assets and lease liabilities tor leases with terms of 12 months
or less; and

e The group applied a single discount rate to a portfolio ot leases with reasonably similar characteristics.

L pon adoption of JFRS 16, on January 1. 2019 the group recorded ROL assets of £201 million and lease
liabilities of £204 million, There was no impact o the group’s retained earnings. The adoption of [FRS 16 did
not have a signilicant iinpact vn the consolidated statements of profit or loss or cash flows.

£000
Ciperating fease commitments disclosed as at
31 December 2018 167.878
Discounted using the incremental borrowing rate at | January 2019 138,100
Add: finance lease liabilities recognised as at 3t December 2018 66048
tLess): short-term leases not recognised as a liability 7
f.ease liabilita recognised as at | fanuary 2019 204,132

26



Virgin Media Finance PLC
Notes to the Group Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2019

2

Accounting policies (continued}

Judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty

The preparation of financial statements requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the
amounts reported for assets and liabilities as at the balance sheet date and the amounts reported for revenues
and expenses during the vear. The nature of esimation means that actual vutcomes could differ from those
estimates.

The most significant judgments and estimations used by management in the process of applying the group's
accounting policies are discussed below:

Impairment of intangthle asseis
Goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite lives are assessed for tmpairment annually and when such
indicators exist.

When value in use calculations are undertaken. management must estimate the expected future cash flows from
the asset or cash-generating unit and choose a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present value of
these cash flows. Where fair value less cost to sell is used. the valuation must represent the fair value of the
cash-generating unit in an orderly transaction between market participants under current market conditions. less
costs to sell.

Deferred tax assels

Deferred 1ax assets are recognised for unused tax losses and allowances to the extent that it is probable that
taxable profit will be available against which the losses can be utilised. Sigaificant judgement is required to
determine the amount of deferred tax assets that can be recognised. based upon the likely timing and the level of
future taxable profits together with future tax planning strategies.

Details of the measurement of the group’s deferred tax asset recognition and measurement are provided in note
9.

Properiv. plant und equipment

Depreciation is provided on all property. plant and equipment, other than freehold land. on a straight-line basis
at rates calculated to write off the cost of cach asset over the shorter of its leasing period or estimated useful
lite. Useful lives are reviewed annually and where adjustments are required. these are made prospectively.

The nature and amount of labour and other costs to be capitalised with respect to construgtion and installation
activities involves significant judgement. In addition to direct external and internal labour and materials. the
group also capitalises other costs directly attributable to the group™s construction and installation activities.
including dispatch costs. quality-control costs. vehicle-related costs and certain warehouse-related costs. The
capitalisation of these costs is based on time sheets. time studies. standard costs. call tracking systems and other
veritiable means that directly tink the costs incurred with the applicable capitalisable activity. The group
continuously monitors the appropriateness of its capitalisation policies and update the policies when necessary
1o respond to changes in facts and circumstances. such as the development of new products and services. and
changes in the manner that installations or construction activities are performed.

air value measwrement of fincnciad instriments

Mlanagement uses valuation techniques (o determine the fair value of financial instruments (where active market
quotes are not available) and non-financial assets. This involves developing estimates and assumptions
consistent with how market participants would price the instrument.

M lanagement bases its assumptions on observable data as far as possible but this is not always available. In that
case management uses the best information available. Estimated fair values may vary from the actual prices that
would be achieved in an arm’s length transaction at the reporting date {see note 21).



Virgin Media Finance PLC
Notes to the Group Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2019

2

Accounting policies (continued)

Basis of consolidution

Subsidiaries are entities contralled by the group. The group controls an entity when it is exposed 0. ur has
rights to. variabie returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through
its power over the entity. [n assessing control. the group takes into consideration potential voting rights. The
acquisition date is the date on which control is transferred to the acquirer. The financial statements of
subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial statements from the date that contrel commences until the
date that control ceases. Losses applicable to the non-controlling interests in a subsidiary arc allocated to the
non-controfling interests even if doing so causes the non-controlling interests to have a deficit balance.

Acquisitions under common control

Business combinations between entities that are under common control are accounted for at book value. The
assets and liabilities acquired ar transferred are recognised or derecognised at the carrving amounts previously
recognised in the group controlling shareholder's consolidated financial statements. The components of equity
of the acquired entities are added to the same components within the group equity and any gainloss arising is
recognised directly in equity.

Transactions eliminuated on consolidation

Intra-group balances and transactions. and any unreafised income and expenses arising from intra-group
transactions. are eliminated. Unrealised gains arising from transactions with equity-accounted investees are
eliminated against the investment to the extent of the group’s interest in the investee. Lnarealised losses are
climinated in the same way as unrealised gains, but only to the extent that there is no evidence of impairment.

Fuareign currency transiation

The group’s consolidated financial statements are presented in pound sterling. which is also the parent
company's functional currency. Transactions in foreign currencies are initially recorded in the local entity's
functional currency by applving the exchange rate ruling at the date of the transaction. Monetany assets and
liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the tunctional currency rate of exchange ruling
at the balance sheet date. All exchange ditferences are included in the Group Income Statement, except where
hedge-accounting is applied and for ditferences on monetary assets and liabilitics that form part of the group’s
net investment in a foreign operation. These we recarded directly in equity until the disposal of the net
investment. at which time they ure reclassitied from equity to profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the
exchange rates as at the dates ot the initial transactions. Non-monetary iterms measured at fair value in a foreign
currency are translated using the ¢xchange rates at the date when the fair value was determined.

Goodwill

Business combinations, other than common control business combinations. are accounted for using the
acquisition method as at the acquisition date. which 15 the date on which control is transfemed to the group. The
group measures voudwill at the acquisition date as:

e the fair value of 1the consideration transferred: plus

»  the recognised amount of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree; plus

e the fair value of the existing equity interest in the acquiree: less

¢ the net recognised amount (generally fajir value) of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities
assumed.

Costs related to acquisitions, other than those associated with the issuc of debt or equiry securities, are expensed
as meurred.

When the excess is negative any gain on barzain purchase is recognised in profit or loss immediately .
Any contingent consideration pavable 1s recognised at tair value at the acquisition date. [t the contingent

consideration is classified as equity, it is not remeasured and settlement s accounted for within equity.
Otherwise. subsequent changes to the fair value of the contingent consideration are recognised in profit or loss.



Virgin Media Finance PL.C
Notes to the Group Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2019

2

Accounting policies (continued)

On a transaction-by -transaction basis. the group clects to measure non-controlling interests. which have both
present ownership interests and are entitied 10 a proportionate share of net assets of the acquiree in the event of
liquidation. either at its fair value or at its proportionate interest in the recognised amount of the identifiable net
assets of the acquiree at the acquisition date. All other non-controlling interests arc measured at their fair value
at the acquisition date.

Property, plunt and equipment
Property. plant and equipment is stated at cost less accurnulated depreciation and accumulated impairment

losses. The cost includes costs directly attributable 1o making the asset capable of operating as intended.
Property . plant and equipment acquired through business combinations is initially recorded at fair value on
acguisition.
Depreciation is provided on all property. plant and equipment. other than freehold land. on a straight-line basis
at rages calculated to write off the cost of each asset over the shorter of ils leasing period or estimated useful life
as fallows:

Melwork assets, cable plant and equipment
Network assets - 3-30years

Network assets includes construction in progress which is not depreciated and comprises of materials.
consumables and direct labour relating to network construction and is stated at the cost incurred in bringing
each preduct to its present location and condition. as follows:

Raw materials and consumables Purchase cost
Work in progress - Cost of direct materials and fabour

Other fixed assets

Right-of-use property - Period of lease

Freehold property. other than land - 30 vears

l.easehold improvements - 20 vears or, if less, the term of the lease
l'umniture and fixtures - 5-12years

Computer equipment - 3 -3 years

Motor vehicles - 3vears

Labour costs relating to the desizn. construction and development of the network. capital projects. and related
services are capitalised and depreciated on a straight-line basis over the life of the relevant assets,

The carrving values of property. plant and equipment are reviewed for impairment when events or changes 1n
circumstances indicate the carrving values may not be recoverable. The useful lives and residual values are
reviewed annually and where adjustments are required. these are made prospectively.

Impairment of intangible assets and property, plunt and equipment

In accordance with [AS 36 Tmpairment of ssets’, intangible asscts with finite lives arc amortised on a straight-
line basis over their respective estimated useful lives. and reviewed for indications of impairment at each
reporting date. If any such indication exists. or when annual impairment testing for an asset is required. the
group makes an estimate of the asscl's recoverable amount. An asset's recoverable amount is the higher of its
fair value less costs to sell and its value in use and is determined for an individual asset. unless the asset does
not generate cash flows that are largely independent of those from other assets or groups of assets. Where the
carrving amount ol an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. the asset is considered impaired and is written
down 1o its recoverable amount. In assessing value in use. the estimated future cash flows are discounted to
their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of
money and the rishs specific to the asset. Impairment losses of continuing operations are recognised in the
Group Income Statement in those expense categories consistent with the function of the impaired asset.

An assessment is made at each reporting date as to whether there is an indication that previously recognised
impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. It such indication exists. the recoverable amount
is estimated. A previously recognised impairment loss is reversed. other than on goodwill. only if there has
been a change in the estimates used to determine the asset's recoverable amount since the last impairment loss
was recognised.

29



Virgin Media Finance PL1.C
Notes to the Group Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2019

2 Accounting policies (continued)

Provisions for liabilities and charges

Provisions are recorded when the group has a legal or constructive obligation as a result of a past event for
which it is probable that the group will be required 10 settle by an outflow of cconomic benefits and for which a
reliable estimate of the amount of the obligation can be made. Provisions are reviewed at each balance sheet
date and adjusted to reflect the current best estimate.

Where the effect of the time value of money is material. the amount of the provision is the present value of the
expenditures expected to be required to settle the obligation.

Leases

On the lease commencement date. (1) a ROU asset is recognised representing the right o use an underlying
asset and (i) lease liabilities representing the group™s obligation to make lease payments over the lease term.
Lease and non-lease components in a contract are generally accounted for separately.

The group initially measures lease liabilitics at the present value of the remaining lease pay ments over the lease
term. Options to extend or terminate the lease are included only when it is reasonably cerain that the option
will be exercised. As most of the group’s leases do not provide enough information o determine an implicit
interest rate. a portfolio level incremental borrowing rate is used in the present value calculation. ROU assets
are initially measured at the value of the [ease liability. plus any initial direct costs and prepaid lease payments.
less any lease incentives received.

ROL assets are generally depreciated on a straighi-line basis over the shorter of the lease term or the useful life
of the asset. Interest expense on the lease liability is recorded using the effective interest method.

Policy applicable before I lanuary, 2019

In the comparative period under IAS 17, the group entered into a lease under which it takes substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership ol an asset, the lease was treated as a finance lease.

The assets were recorded in the balance sheet as a fixed tangible asset and depreciated over their usetul
zconomic lives. Finance lease debtors were recorded in the balance sheet. and future instalments payable under
finance teases were included within creditors, net ol fance charges. Rentals reecivable and pay able under
these finance lease arrangements are apportioned: the finance elements were recorded in the profit and loss
account on a reducing balance basis and the capital elements reduced the cutstanding liability or assct in
accordance with the terms of the contract.

Rentals applicable to operating leases where substantially all of the benefits and risks of ownership remained
with the lessor. were charged to the profit and loss account on a straight line basis over the period of the lease.

Interest bedaring loans and borrowings
Adl loans and borrowings are initially recognised at fair value less dircetls attributable transaction costs.

After initial recognition. interest bearing lcans and borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest method.

Gamns and losses arising on the repurchase. settlement or otherwise cancellation of labilities are recognised
respectively in finance income and finance costs.

Finance costs which are incurred in connection with the issuance of debt are detferred and set off against the

borrowings to which they relate, Deferred finance cosis are amortised over the term of the related debt using the
effective interest method.



Virgin Media Finance PLC
Notes to the Group Financial Statements
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2 Accounting policies (continued)

Derivarive financial instruments and hedging

The group has established policies and procedures to govern the management of its exposure (o interest rate and
foreign currency exchange rate risks through the use of derivative financial instruments. including interest rate
swaps, cToss currency interest rate swaps and foreign currency forward rate contracts.

Derivative financial instruments are initzally recognised at fair value on the date on which a derivative contract
is entered into and are subsequently remeasured at fair value at gach balance sheet date.

Derivatives are recognised as financial assets when the fair value is positive and as liabilities when the fair
value is negative.

The foreign currency forward rate contracts. interest rate swaps and cross-currency interest rate swaps are
valued using internal models based on observable inputs, counterparty valuations or market transactions in
either the listed or over-the counter markets, adjusted for non-performance rish. Non-performance risk is based
upon quoted credit default spreads for counterparties 1o the contracts and swaps. Derivative contracts which are
subject to master netting arrangements are not offset and have not provided. nor require. cash collateral with
any counterparty .

While these instruments are subject to the risk of loss from changes in exchange rates and interest rates, these
lasses would generally be offset by gains in the related exposures. Financial instruments are only used to hedge
underlying commercial exposures. The group does not enter into derivative financial instruments for speculative
trading purposes, nor does it enter into derivative financial instruments with a level of complexity or with a risk
that is greater than the exposure to be managed.

For derivatives which are designated as hedges the hedging relationship is decumented at its inception. This
documentation identifies the hedging instrument. the hedged item or transaction, the nature of the risk being
hedged and how effectiveness witl be measured throughout its duration. Such hedges are expected at inception
to be highly effective.

The group designates certain derivatives as either fair value hedges, when hedging exposure o variability in the
fair value of recognised assets or liabilities or firm commitments, or as cashflow hedges. when hedging
exposure to variability in cash flows that are either attributable (o a particular risk associated with a recognised
asset or liability or a highly probable forecast transaction.

Derivatives that are not part of an etfective hedging relationship. as set out in [FRS 9. must be classified as held
for trading and measured at fair value through profit or loss.

The treatment of gains and losses arising tfrom revaluing derivatives designated as hedging instruments depends
upen the nature of the hedging relationship and are treated as follows:

Cash flow hedges

For cash tlow hedges, the effective purtion of the gain or loss on the hedging instrument is recognised directly
in Other Comprehensive Income. while the ineffective portion is recognised in the Group [ncame Statement
Amounts taken to Other Comprehensive Income are reclassitied to the Group Income Statement when the
hedged transaction is recognised in the Group Income Statement. such as when a forecast sale or purchase
oceyrs, in the same line of the Greup Income Statemeat as the recognised hedged item. Where the hedged item
is the cost of a non-financial asset or liability. the gains and losses previously accumulated in equity arc
trans ferred to the initial measurement of the cost of the non-financial asset or liability. [f a forecast transaction
is no longer expected to oceur, the gain or tess accurnulated in equity is recognised immediately in the Group
Income Statement. |f the hedging instrument expires or is sold. terminated or exercised without replacement or
rollover, or if its designation as a hedge is revoked. amounts previously recognised in Other Comprehensive
[ncome remain in equity until the forccast transaction occurs and are reclassified to the Group income
Statement.
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Accounting policies {continued)

Fuir value hedges

For fair value hedges. the changes in the fair value of the hedging instrument are recognised in the Group
income Statement immediately. together with any changes in the fair value of the hedged asser or liability that
are attributable to the hedged risk. The change in the fair value of the hedging instrument and the change in the
hedged item attributable to the hedged risk are recognised in the line of the Group Income Statement relating to
the hedged item.

If the hedging instrument expires or is sold. terminated or exercised without replacement or rollover, or itfits
designation as a hedge is revoked. then the fair value adjustment to the carrving amount of the hedged ttem
arising from the hedged risk is amortised to profit or loss from that date.

Inventories

[nventory consists of goods for resale and programing inventories which are valued art the lower of cost or net
realisable value using the first-in, first-out (FIFO) method. Cost represents the invoiced purchase cost of
inventory. Net realisable value is based on judgements, using currently gvailable information about obsolete,
slow moving or defective inventory. Based upon these judgements and estimates. which are applied consistently
trom period to period. an adjustment is made to state the carrying amount of inventory held for resale at the
lower of cost and net realisable value.

Trude and vther receivables

Our trade receivables are initially measured at fair value and subsequently reported at amortised cost, net ot an
allowance for impairment of trade receivables. The aliowance for impairment of trade receivables is estimated
based upon our assessment of anticipated loss related 1o uncollectible accounts receivable. We use a number of
factors in determining the allowance. including. among other things. coliection trends. prevailing and
anticipated economic conditions. and specific customer credit risk. The allowance is maintained unti) either
payment is received or the likelthood of collection is considered to be remote. For additional information
regarding our trade receivable and allowance for impairment of trade receivables, see note 13,

Concentration of credit risk with respect to trade reccivables is limited due to the large number of residential
business customers. We also manage this risk by disconnecling servives W customers whose accounts are
delingent.

Cash and short term deposits

Cash and short-term deposits in the Group Balance Sheet comprise cash at banks and in hand and short-term
deposits with an original maturity of three months or less. For the purpose of the Group Cash Flow Statement.
cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and short term deposits as defined above. net of outstanding bank
overdrafts.

Tux

Current income tax

Current tax assets and labilities are measured at the amount expected to be recovered from or paid to the
taxation authorities. based on tax rates and laws that are enacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet
date.

Current income tax relating to items recognised directly in equity is recognised in equity and not in the income
statement. The directors periodically evaluate positions taken in the tax returns with respect to situations in
which applicable tax regulations are subject to interpretation and establish provisions where appropriate.
[ncome tax is charged or credited to Other Comprehensive Income f it relates to items that are charged or
credited to Other Comprehensive [ncome.

+
I
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Accounting policies (continued)

Deferred tax
Deferred tax is provided using the liability method on temporary differences between the tax bases of assets and
liabilities and their carryving amounts for financial reporting purposes at the reporting date.

Deterred ax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences. except:

»  When the deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or an asset or liabiliny in a
transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction. affects neither the
accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss.

+ In respect of taxable temporan differences associated with investments in subsidiaries. associates and
interests in joint ventures, when the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences can be controlled
and it is prebable that the temporary differences will notreverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences. the carry forward of unused tax
credits and any unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is prebable that taxable
profit will be available against which the deductible temparary differences. and the carry forward of unused tax
credits and unused 1ax losses can be utilised. except:

e When the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible temporary difference arises from the initial
recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and. at the time of the
transaction. affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit ar loss.

* In respect of deductible temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates and
interests in joint ventures, deferred tax assets are recognised only to the extent that it is probable that the
temporary differences will reverse in the foresecable future and taxable profit will be available against
which the temporary differences can be utilised.

i he carrving amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each reporting date and reduced to the extent that it is
no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to
be utitised. Unrecognised deferred tax assels are reassessed at each reporting date and are recognised to the
extent that it has become probable that future taxable profits will allow the deferred tax asset (o be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the year when the
asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted at the reporting date.

Deferred 1ax relating to items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised outside profit or loss. Deferred tax
items are recognised in correlation to the underlying fransaction either in Other Comprehensive [ncome or
directly in equity.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if a legally enforceable right exists to set oft current tax
assels against current income tax liabilities and the deferred laxes relate to the same taxable entity and the same
taxation authority.

Pensions

The group vontributes to the Virgin Media sponsored group personal pension plans for cligible employees.
Contributions 1o these schemes are recognised in the Group Income Statement in the period in which they
become payable. in accordance with the rules for each of the plans.

The group operates three defined benetit pension plans. which require contributions to be made o separately
administered funds. The plans are closed to new entrants.

The regular cost of providing benefits under the defined benefit plans is attributed 10 individual years using the
projected unit credit method. Variations in pension cost. which are identitied as a result ol actuarial valuations.
are amortised over the average expected remaining working lives of employees in proportion to their expected
payroll costs. Past service costs are recognised in the income statentent on a straight-line basis over the vesting
period or immediately if the benefits have vested.

s
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2 Accounting policies (continued)

When a settiement (eliminating all obligations tor benehts already accrued) or a curtailment treducing future
obligations as a result of a material reduction in the scheme membership or a reduction in future entidement)
occurs. the obligation and related scheme assets are re-measured using the current actuarial assumptions and the
resultant gain or loss recognised in the Group Income Statement during the period in which the settlement or
curtailment occurs.

The interest element of the defined benefit pension cost represents the change in present value of scheme
obligations resulting from the passage of time and is determined by applying the discount rate to the opening
present value of the benefit oblization. taking into account material changes in the obligation during the vear.
The expected return on scheme assets is based on an assessment made at the beginning of the year of long term
market returns on scheme assets, adjusted for the effect ot fair value of the scheme assets of contributions
received and benefits paid during the year. The differcnce between the expected return on scheme assets and
the interest cost is recognised in the Group Income Statement.

Actuarial gains and losses are recognised in tull in the Group Statement of Comprehensive [ncome in the period
in which they occur.

The deltined benefit pension asset or lability in the Group Balance Sheet comprises the total for cach scheme of
the present value of the detined benefit obligation (using a discount rate based on high guality corporate bonds ).
tess any past service cost not vet recognised and less the fair value of scheme assets out ot which the obligations
are to be settled directly. Fair value is based on market price information and. in the case of quoted securities.
is the published bid price.

Revenue recognition

Revenue earned from contracts to be recognised in line with performance obligations based on a five-step
modet.

On inception of the contract we identify a “performance obligation™ for each of the distinct goods or services
we have promised to provide to the customer. The consideration specified in the contract 15 allocated 10 each
performance obligation identitied based on their relative standalone selling prices. and is recognised in revenue
as they are sarisfied. The following table summarises the performance obligations we have identified tor our
major revenue dines and provides information on the time of when they are satishies and the related revenue
recognition policy.

|—Ru\cnuc line l Performance vbligation l Revenue recognition policy T
Serviee revenee Cable | Provision of video. broadband internet and fixed-tipe Rovenue Yor these brpes of semvces
Neworks | telephony services over our cable network o s recopnised evenly over the pertod |

[ custormers. ol the apreemuent as the services are
\ Berformance obligations are identitied tor cach ‘ prov idud.
" distingt sem ive for which the Sustomer fas conteaceed |
‘ and are considered W be satisfied over the time pegiod
that these seryiees ure delivered. ) )
Installution and other " When the 2roup COters (Nt CONTrLets o provide lhese lees are goneratly deferred
uplront fees ser ees to customers. the group offen charges and reeognised as revenue over the ]
installation or other uptront fees, contractual pertod. or longer if the

uplront fee results 1n g material

Lhe group is obliged o cnsure it can supply services
¢ group is eblige clia PPl renewal right,

W the customer premise as per the customer contract
This includes cable plant and equipment instellation
al the customers premise.

frstalletion 1> not considered us o separate

perlormance obligation
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2

Accounting policies (continued)

B2B revenue Provision of data. voice and netwerk solution I'he group deter uptront installation
senvices. including the sale and maintenance o and certain nonrecurring fees
cquipment o business customers. [nstallation charges | reccived un business-to-business

i ¢ are charged in relation w the provision of sers jees, contracts where we maintain

vwnership ot the mstalled
Lhe group is obliged to provide the customer with the | equipment. The deferred feesare
connectivity sers ives and or equipment stipulated the | amortised into revenue on a

ClUskermeT contract, strafght-iine basis. generally over

the konger ot the term ol the
Installation s not considered as a separaic arrangement of the expected peried
perlormance obligation. ol perlormance.

From time to timue. we alse enter
into agreements with certain B2B
customers pursuant to which they
are pros tded the right Lo use certain
clements of our network. fthese
agreements are determined to
contain a lease that meets the
criteria to be considered a sales-
type lease, we reeognize revenue
from the lease component when
control ol the network element is
transterred to the customer.

Vbile revenue — Provision of minutes, texts and data over our Mobile The group recognise revenue from

Adrtime sers ices . network. mobile scrvices in the period in
- . ‘ . . which the reluted services are
 The group B3 obliged w provide the customer with a provided. Reseaue from pre-pas

SIM which i SOTOTIC q B acted & WANCe: ) . i
SIN which is provisioned with contracted allowances customers is deferred prior o the

*ach month. . .
cach my commencement of services and
recognised as the services are
rendered or usage rights expire.

Mobile revenue - Provision of mehile handsct delivery to the customer. | Arrangement consideration
[and~cts allocated o handsets s recognised
as revenue when the goods have
handsets as requested by the custonier. been deliered and tite has passed.

The group 1s obliged w provide delivers of mobile

Lor customers under a mobile
handset instalment contract that is
independent ol w4 mobile airtime
|oServiges conlriact resenue is
recognised upon delbivery.

There are no materiai obligations in respect of returns, refunds or warranties.

Consideration from mobile contracts is allocated to the airtime service component and the handset component
based on the relative standalone selling prices of cach component. When the group offer handsets and aintime
services in separate contracts entered into at the same time. the group account for these contracts as a singie
contract.

Incremental revenues are generated based on usage for calls and video on demand. The entity has a right to
consideration from the customer at an amount thai corresponds directly with the value to the customer of the
entity s performance completed to date. therefore the entity recognises the revenue to the extent 1o which it has
arightto invoice.

For subscriber promotions, such as discounted or free services during an introductery period. revenuz s
recognised uniformiy over the contractual period if the contract has substantive termination penalties. [f a
contract does not have substantive termination penalties. revenue is recognized only to the extent of the
discounted monthly fees charged to the subscriber, if any.

Led
wn
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2

Accounting policies (continued)

Other income

Taterest income i recognised as interest accrues according to the effective interest method which uses the rate
that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the financial instrument to the
net carrying amount.

Share-based puyments

Lhe company is an indirect. whotly-owned subsidiary of Virgin Media Tne. and Liberty Global ple. The
company has no share-based compensation plans. Employees render services in exchange for shares or rights
over shares {cquity -settled transactions) of Liberty Giobal ptc common stock.

I he cost of equitv-setiled transactions with employees is measured by reference to the fair value at the date
which they are granted. The fair vatue of options and share appreciation rights are determined using the Black-
Scholes model. The fair value of restricted share units is determined using either the share price at the grant date
or the Nonte Carlo model. depending on the conditions attached to the restricted share units being granted,
These transaction costs are recognised. together with a corresponding increase in either equity or amounts owed
ty parent undertakings. over the service period. or. if applicable, over the period in which any performance
conditions are fulfilled. which ends on the date on which the relevant empioyees become fully entitled to the
award (vesting date). The cumulative expense recognised for equity settled transactions at each reporting date,
until the vesting date. reflects the extent to which the vesting period has expired and the aumber of awards that
are estimated to ultimately vest. in the opinion of management at that date and based on the best available
information.

No expense is recognised for awards that do not ultimatels vest, except for awards where vesting is conditional

upon a market vesting condition. which are treated as vesting irrespective of whether or not the market
condition is satisfied. provided that all other pertormance conditions are satisfied.

36
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3

Segment information

The principal activity of the company is to facilitate the group's financing structure by implementing the group's
capital management policies. making and facilitating external borrowings and holding investments in subsidiary
companies. The company s investments include all of the Virgin Media group’s trading operating companies.

The Virgin Media group’s reporting segments are based on its method of internal reporting to the Liberty
Global group and the information used by its chief executive officer. who is the chief operating dectsion maker
("CODMT), to evaluate segment performance and make capital allocation decisions.

[t has been determined that the Virgin Media group comprises a single operating segment. This reflects how the
CODM reviews the results of the group’s business based on revenue and profitability measures.

There is no material difference between the revenue presented to the CODM and the revenue of the Virgin
Media Finance PLC group. Revenue for the group was £35.168.1 million (2018 - £3.150.3 million) and was
entirely derived from the sale of goods and services.

Creographic Locations
The group’s revenue by geographic location is set out helow:

2019 2018
£ million £ million
UK 4,763.3 4,757.7
Ireland 402.6 3926
Toral 5.168.1 5.150.3
Group operating profit
This is stated after charging (crediting):
2019 2018
£ million £ million
Depreciation of property. plant and equipment 1,004.7 1.027.1
Depreciation of right of use assets . 2 A
Total depreciation 1.046.7 1,036.9
Amortisation of intangible assets 193.1 185.8
Rent of premises 298 28.2
Gain on disposal of property. plant and equipment (3.3 (2.3
Cost of inventories recognised within cost of sales 216.4 2323
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Auditor’s remuneration

W

I'he group paid the tollowing amounts to its auditors in respect of the audit of the financial statements and for

other services provided to the group.

Fees paid to the auditor for audit and other services to the company are not disclosed in its individual accounts

as the group accounts are required to disclose such fees on a consolidated basis.

Fees payable to the company’s auditors and their associates for other services represents fees pavable for
services in refation to other statutory filings or engagements that are required 1o be carried out by the group's

auditors.

2019
£ million
Audit services:
Statutory audit services - awdit of the parent company and group 0.3
financial statements
Fees payable to the company's auditors and their associates tor other services:
Statutory audit services - statutorny accounts of the company's subsidiaries 02

0.7

2018
£ million

6 Staff costs and directors’ emoluments

(a) Statt costs

Included in wages and salaries is & total expense for share-based pay ments of £48.3 million (2018 - £27.2
milhion), all of which arses from transactions accounted for as equity -settled share-based payment fransactions

burther informaticn on vompensation of key management personnel is disclosed in the related party

transactions {note 28).

2019 2018

£ million £ million

Wages and salaries 3993 591.9

Sacial security costs 0.0 6.2

Pension costs - detined benefit scheme 1.6 3.8

Pension costs - detined contribution scheme 276 RE

Tuotal statt costs 6833 676.4

it Average staff numbers

T'he average monthly number of employees during the year was:

2019 2018

No. No.

Consumer 3.856 6995

Support. I'echnology and Innovation 3.042 3.254

Business 22101 2,390

lightning 887 863

Mobile 52 73

T'otal staff numbers 12,948 13,575
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6

[SW]

Staff costs and directors’ emoluments (continued)
Directors’ emoluments

There were no other transactions with directors during the year.

Directors' remuneration
Amounts receivable under long term incentive plans
Total remuneration

Company contributions paid to money purchase pension plans

Highest paid director:
Remuneration (including awards receivable under long term incentive plans)
Company contributions paid to money purchase pension plans

Number of directors accruing benefits under money purchase plans
Number of directors who exercised share options under schemes
operated by ultimate parent company

Number of directors with shares received or receivable under long
term incentive plans

Finance income

2019 2018
£ 000 £ 000
3.938 3.332
L5310 135
5449 3,787
18 10
2,148 2,243
9 10
2157 2,253
2019 2018
No. No.
3 3

3 4

3 4

Other finance income and interest on amounts due from group undertakings and related parties are recognised
using the effective interest rate method in accordance with IFRS 9 “Financial Instruments’.

[nterest on amounts due from related parties
Gain on foreign exchange

Gain on derivative financial instruments
Gain on fair value of financial instruments
Other finance income

Interest on pensions

‘L otal finance income

2019
£ millien

283.8
200.7

oy O

2018
£ million

(¥
-
=

437.5
0.8
0.4
1.6
733.7
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8

Finance costs

Interest pay able is recognised using the elfective interest rate method.

For the year ended 31 December 2019, loss on extinguishment of debt was £188.8 miflion (2018 - £29.0
million) and related to the redemption premium paid and the write oft of deferred financing costs as a result of
the redemption of the senior notes. senior secured notes and sentor credit facilities from refinancing activities

during the year (sec¢ note 17).

Interest payable on:
Senior credit tacility and vendor financing
Senior notes
L.oans from related parties
Loss on derivative financial instruments
l.oss on foreign exchange
Loss on debt extinguishment
L.oss on fair value of financial instruments
{nterest pavable on leases
LU'nwinding of discounts va provisions
Other interest and fees
Total hinance costs

Tax
() Tux expense on profit before tux
Current tneome (i
UK taxes
Deterred income tax
Origination and reversal of temporary differences

Movement in deferred tax assets due to change in tax rate
Prior year adjustment

Total 1ax expense in Group lncome Statement

(h) Reconciliativn of the total tax expense in the Group Income Statement

2019
£ million

o

e 1
o~
12~

[on)

2018

£ million

2494
391.8
0.3
326.1
29.0

- O

G
A
2

T 1.008.9

2019 2018
£ million £ million
0.9 5.3
0.9 5.3
084 991
(3.9) (20.3)
7.6 1.7
1021 83.5
103.0 888

Group [ncome Statement tax expense reconciliation o the standard rate of corporation tax in the UK of 19%q

(2018 - 19%,);

Profit before income tax

Profit multiplied by the UK standard rate of corporation
tax of 197 (2018 - 16.25%5}

Expenses not deducetible for tax purposes

tilisation of tax losses and other deductions

Other

Movement in deferred tax assets due to change in tax rate

Adjustment refating to prior sears

T'otal tax expense recognised in the group income statement

40

2019 2018

£ million £ million
6801 4734
[292 599

6.7 154
(38.2y 10.9)

|.6 Q.9

3.9 1203

7.6 1.7

103.0 88.8
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9 Tax (continued)

{c) Reconciliation of the total tiax expense

2019 2018

£ million £ million

Tax recognised in the Group [ncome Statement 103.0 88.8
Tax recognised in equity (1.0) 1.4
Total tax expense 102.0 90.2

(d) Recognised deferred tax

Recognised deferred tax assets at 31 December 2019 and 31 December 2018 were as follows:

2019 2018
£ million £ million
UK deterred tax assets:
Depreciation and amortisation 1.370.1 [.499.9
Derivative instruments 1.2 16.7)
Net operating losses 157 4 139.0
Other 3.3 13.1
Total UK deferred tax assets 1.544.2 1.645.3

The group has determined it probable that in future it will generate sufficient pre-tax profits to utilise
substantially ail of its deferred tax assets related to unclaimed capital allowances.

In the March 2020 Budget it was announced that the UK tax rate will remain at the current [9%0 and not reduce
to 17% from 1 April 2020. This will have a consequential effect on the group’s future tax charge, If this 1ax rate
change had been substantively enacted at the current balance sheet date the deferred iax asset would have
increased by £182.3 million.

fe) Unrecognised deferred tax

Deferred tax assets in respect of the following amounts have not been recognised as there is not currently
persuasive evidence that there will be suitable taxable profits against which these timing differences will

reverse.
2019 2018
£ million £ million
Net operating losses 479.0 4159
Capital losses 121046 12.105.0
Other timing ditferences 3140 3647
128976 1288556

+1
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9  Tax (continued)

(fi Movement in deferred tax balances
Movements in defierred tax during the year:

Depreciation and whorisation
Derivitive Instruments
Netoperating fosses

Cither

1 January
2019
£ million

14999
6.7)
3.0
13.t

1.643.3

Recognised in
income
£ millien

1129.8)
17.9
18,4
(8.53)

(2.

Recognised in
equity
£ million

31 December
2019
£ million

1.370.1
11.2
157.4
3.6

1.544.3

Movements in deterred tax during the prior sear

Depreciation and amortisation
Derivative instruments

et operiting losses

Other

1 January
2018
£ million

Recognised in
income
£ millign

e s
e e D

tw

oc
Ly
a
z

Recognised in
equity
£ million

thh

(.4

31 December
218
£ million

L4999
(6.7§

139.0

13.1

L6453
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10 Intangible assets

(a) Summary of intangible assety

Goodwill  IT Software Other Total

£ million £ miliion £ million £ million
Cost
At | January 2018 2.300.1 387.7 21.7 2.909.5
Impairment - (8.6) - (8.6)
Additions 1.5 1ol 4 - 161.9
Dispasals - (93.7) - (93.7)
Fffect of movement in exchange rates 2.2 - - 2.2
Al 31 December 2018 and 1 January 2019 2.303.8 6438 21.7 2.971.3
Impairment - (0.4 - (0.4
Additions - 8902 - 89.2
Disposals - (75.1) - (73.1)
Effect of movement in exchange rates (12.6) - - (12.6}
At 31 December 2019 2,291.2 659.5 21.7 29724
Accumulated amortisation and impairment
At 1 January 2018 138.0 178.8 1.2 318.0
Amortisation charge - 171.1 147 1858
Disposals - (93.7) - (93.7)
At 31 December 2018 and ! January 2019 138.0 2362 15.9 410.1
Amortisation charge - 192.0 1.4 1931
Disposals - {75.1) - (75.1)
At 31 December 2019 138.0 373.1 17.0 528.1
Net book value
A1 31 December 2019 21532 286.4 4.7 24443
At 3F December 2018 2.163.8 3896 5.8 25612
At | January 2018 2,162.1 408.9 20.5 2.591.5

The amortisation charge has been recognised through administrative expenses in the Group [ncome Statement.
() Impairment of poodwill and intungible assers with indefinite lives

Goudwill and other intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are not amortised. but instead are tested for
impairment at least annually. Goodwill is allocated to reporting units. the asscts of which are separately
operatled and monitored. Management considers that there are two reporting units relating to the group’s
operations in the UK and freland.

The group evaluates the recoverable amount of the group’s reporting units. using a fair value less costs to sell
method. The group’s estimate of the recoverable amount is based primarily of cbservable EBIT DA multiples
tor recent transactions and publicly—traded peer companies. which are Level 2 inputs in the fair value hierarchy.
The group’s 2019 goodwill impairment assessment determined that fair value exceeded the carrying value of
both of the group's reporting units and as a result concluded that no impairment to goodwill was required.
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11 Property, plant and equipment

Cost

At | January 2018

Additions

On acquisition of subsidiary
Transfers

Effect of movement in exchange rates
Disposals

At 51 December 2018 and | January 2019
Lease opening balance adjustment
Additions

Effect of movement in exchange rates
Disposals

At 3t December 2019

Depreciation

At 1 January 2018

Provided during the year

Transfer

Efftect of movement in exchange rates
Disposals

At 31 December 2018 and | January 2019
Provided during the year

Impairment release

Effect of movement in exchange rates
Dispusals

At 31 December 2019

Net book value
At 31 December 2019

At 31 December 2018

At | January 2018

The group did not capitalise any borrowings costs during the year.

Included in 'Other are the following net book values:

Freehold land and buildings
leasehold land and buildings
Leasehoeld improvements

Network

assets Other Total

£ million £ million £ million
13,8433 1,.343.0 15.186.3
1.166.6 1643 1.330.9
038 - 0.8

3.5 (3.5 -

7.8 1.1 8.9
1618.3) (37..h (653.7
14,431.7 14393 15.871.2
10.5 1366 147.1
1.005.4 187.8 1.193.2
(43.3) (5.6) (+9.1)
(799.1) (43.9) (842 &)
14,605.0 17148 16,319.8
91296 G20.0 10.049.6
0211 1158 1.0369
16.1 (160 -

4 0.7 48
616.7) 126.5) (643.2)
Q4542 9439 10.418.1
890.0 156.7 1.046.7
424.7) - (424.7)
(23.1) (2.7) (25.8)
(779.3) (43.2) (822.5}
91171 L1047 10,221.8
54879 6101 6,098.0
1.977.3 4436 5.423.1
137 423.0 5,136.7
2019 2018

£ million £ million

344 354

291 208

9.6 62,1

1231 137.3

34
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12 Financial assets

2019 2018
£ million £ million

Non-current
Restricted cash 22.0 5.5
Deferred financing costs 16.2 4.5
Derivative insttuments {see note 21) 430.9 741.9
Amounts owed by related parties 4.953.8 4.826.0
54229 5.387.9

Current

Derivative instruments (see note 21) 824 143.0
Restricted cash 0.1 0.1
823 143.1

Amounts owed by related parties are primarily in respect of loan notes receivable from Liberty Global Europe 2
Limited. a wholly owned subsidiary of Liberty Global ple that sits outside of the Virgin Media group, which
have an aggregate principal balance of £4.926.4 million (2018: £4.826.0 million). These comprise of principal
amount outstanding of £1.501.5 million (2018: £1.301.5 miillion) which incur interest at a rate of 8.3% repayable
in April 2023 and £3.424.9 million (20t8: £3.324.5 million) at a rate of 4.763% (subject to adjustment)

repayable in July 2023,

13 Trade and other receivables

2019 2018
£ million £ milion
Non-current
Prepayments and accrued income 363 37.3
Other receivables - 0.1
36.3 37.4
Current
I'rade receivables 426.4 4177
Amounts owed by parent and group undertakings 1.6 -
Amounts owed by retated parties 33.3 46.8
Prepayments and accrued income 184.6 16-1.0
630.9 628.5

Prepayments and accrued income classified as non-current include long term telecommunications contract
assets with terms in excess of one year.

Current amounls owed by related parties are unsecured and repayable on demand.

Trade receivables are non-interest bearing. are generally on 30-90 day terms and are stated net of provision for
non-recoverability.  The group’s rrade and other receivables have been reviewed for indicators of impairment
and it was concluded that a provision for non-recoverability of £19.3 million (2018 - £19.6 million} was
required. he carrving value of trade receivables is considered to be a fair approximation of fair value.

The allowance for doubtiul accounts is based upon the group’s assessment of probable loss related to
uncollectible trade receivables. The group uses a number of factors in determining the allowance. including,
among other things. collection trends, prevailing and anticipated economic conditions and specific customer
credit risk. The allowance is maintained unti! either receipt of payment or the likelihood of collection is
considered to be remaote.

I
A
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13 Trade and other receivables (continued)

Movements in the provision for impairment of receivables were as follows:

£ million
At January 2018 REN
Charge for the year 257
Ultilised (39.24
At 31 December 2018 and | January 2019 15.6
Charge for the vear 232
Utilised (23.3)
At 31 December 2019 10.5
The ageing analysis of trade receivables is as tollows:
Neither
past due sor Balances past due
Total impaired <30 davs 30 -60 days 60 - 99 days >90 days
£ million £ million £ million £ million £ million £ miltion
31 December 2019 4294 324.6 346 244 6.8 39.0
31 December 2018 417.7 R 38.0 194 7.8 36.1
14 Inventories
2019 2018
£ million £ million
Goods for resale 30.0 300
Programming inventory 237 287
Total Inventory 34.6 60.7

—
1]

Cash and short term deposits

Cash at bank earns interest at tloating rates based on daily bank deposit rates, Short-term deposits are made for
varving perieds of between one day and three months depending on the immediate cash requirements ol the
group. and earn interest at the respective short-term deposit rates. The fair value of cash and cash equivalents
including overdrawn cash book balances at 31 December 2019 was £33.9 million (2018 - £16.2 million).

2019 2018

£ million £ million

Cash at bank and in hand 33.9 16,1
Short-term deposits - Q.1
33.9 16.2

460
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16 Trade and other payables

17

Current

Trade payables

VAT, payvroll taxes and social security costs
Interest payable

Amounts owed to parent and group undertakings
Amounts owed to related party

Accruals and deferred income

2019
£ million

2018
£ million

3759
148.9
197.7
36.7
63.9
39.9
1.663.0

T'rade payables are non-interest bearing and generally repayable on terms of up to 60 days. Trade payables.
interest pavable and amounts owed to group undertakings are financial liabilities which are excluded from note

17.

Amounts owed to group undertakings and to related parties are unsecured and repayable on demand.

Non-current
Other tong term payables

Other long term payables consist of property and restructuring costs provisions.

Financial liabilities

Current

Lease liabilities {see nowe 18)

Current instalments due on other debt
DPerivative instruments (see note 21
Vendor [inancing

Non-current

lease Labilities (see note 18)

Non-current instalments due on senior credit facility
Senior notes

Senior seeured notes

Non-current instalments due on other debt
Derivative instruments {see note 21

Vendor financing

Total financial liubilitiey

47

2019
£ million

26.8

2019
£ million

b
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A
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i
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18%.0
3.998.4
1.187.3
44719

142.7

H)2.8
72.4
t0.463.5
12.494.%

2018

£ miHion

36.8

2018
£ million
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17 Financial liabilities (continued)

Borrowings at 31 December were repayable as follows:

Amounis falling due:

Within one year

In more than one year but not more than five years
In more than five years

Less: issue costs

Total borrowings

Financial liabilities not classcd as borrowings
Total financial liabilities

Financial liabilities not classed as borrowings include amounts payable to parent and group undertakings.

oblizgations under leases, interest rate swaps and cross-currency interest rate swaps.

Loans repayable in more than five years are as tollows:

Loans repavable after 5 years:

Senior notes

Senior secured notes
Senivor credit facilities
Other debt

Vendor financing

2019 2018
£ million £ million
1.804 .4 1.931.0
340.2 903.1
9.637.6 5.488.5
11,7822 123726
BENEEE) (53.7)
11.736.9 12.316.9
7379 428.7
[2.494.8 12,7456
2019 2018
£ million £ million
l.037.2 1.417.0
4.490.8 14766
1.014.6 3.5635
75.0 314
9.637.6 G 4885

The group enters nlo vendur financing arrangements to finance certain property and equipment additions and
aperating costs. The amounts owed pursuant to these arrangements are interest bearing and include VAT which
was paid on the group’s behalf by the vendor. Repayments ot vendor financing obligations are included in the
repay ment of borrowings in the Group Cash Flow Statement. The weighted average cost of vendor financing

debr is 4.96% and is substantially due within { year.

Senior notes

Sentor noles consist of

LS. Dollur

5.25%¢ senior notes due 2022 (principal at maturity 32 million}
4.875% senior notes due 2022 (principal at maturity $72 million)
6.00% senivr notes due 2024 {principal at maturity 3497 million)
3.75%0 senior notes due 2023 (principal ac maturity $389 mittioni

Sterling
5.125% senior notes due 2022 (principal at maturity £44 million)

6.375% senior notes due 2024 (principal at maturity £300 million)

Eurer
4.3%5 senior notes due 2025 (principal at maturity €460 million)

l.css: issue costs
Total senior notes
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£ million
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£ million
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17 Financial liabilities (continued)

Senior secured notes

2019 2018
£ million £ million
Senior secured notes consist of
U.S. Dollar
3.25% senior secured notes due 2021 (principal at maturity $448 million) - 402.7
3.5% senior notes due 20235 (principal at maturity $425 million) - 278.1
5.23% senior notes due 2026 (principal at maturity $1.000 million) - 787.4
3.5%0 senior notes due 2026 {principal at maturity $750 million) 363.6 3384
5.5% senior notes due 2029 (prinipal at maturity $825 million; 1.081.9 -
1.647.5 2.056.6
Sterling
5.5% senior secured notes due 2021 (principal at maturity £107 million) - 125.7
3.5% senier secured notes due 2023 (principal at maturity £387 million) - 387.0
5.1252; senior secured notes due 2023 (principal at marturity £300 millien) - 300.0
6.00% senior secured notes due 2025 (principal at maturity £521 million) 540.1 333.2
5.00% senior secured notes due 2027 (principal at maturity £675 million) 675.0 673.0
+.875% senior secured notes due 2027 (principal at maturity £323 mitlion) 325.0 5250
6.25% senior secured notes due 2029 {principal at maturity £360 million) 362.0 4024
5.25% senior secured notes due 2029 (principal at maturity £340 million) 341.2 -
+4.25%, sentor secured notes due 2030 (principal at maturity £400 milliom 400.0 -
T 28133 29383
Less: issue costs (18.9) 118.2)
44719 4.986.7

Total senior secured notes

[n May 2019, Virgin Media Secured Finance ple issued ¢i) $825.0 million (£622.0 milliony principal amount of
2029 VAL Dollar Senior Secured Notes and (it} £300.0 million principal amount of 2029 VN 3.23% Sterling
Senior Secured Notes. Each series of notes was issued at par and matures on May 15, 2029, The net proceeds
from the issuance of these notes were used to redeem in full 1a} £387.0 million outstanding principal amount
under the 2023 VM 35.5% Sterling Senior Secured Notes, tb) 833545 million (£267.3 million) outstanding
principal amount under the 2025 VI Dollar Senior Secured Notes and ¢¢) £300.0 million outstanding principal
amount under the 2024 VM Sterling Senior Notes. In connection with these transactions. we recognised a loss
on debt modification and exiinguishment of £37.4 million related to (1) the payment of £34.0 million of
redemption premiums and (2) the write-off of £3.4 million of unamortised deferred financing costs and
discounts.

In July 2019, Virgin Media Secured Finance ple issued an additionat $600.0 million (£452.4 million) principal
amount of 2029 Vi Dollar Senior Secured Notes at 101.73% of par. The net proceeds from the issuance of
these notes were used to redeem in full (i) $447.9 million (£337.7 million) outstanding principal amount under
the 2021 VM Dollar Senior Secured Notes and (ii) £107.1 million outstanding principal amount under the 2021
VAL Sterling Senior Secured Notes. In August 2019, we issued an additional £40.0 million principal amount of
2029 VNI 5.23% Sterling Senior Secured Notes at 103% of par. The net proceeds from the issuance of these
notes were used 1o redeem an equal outstanding principal amount of 2029 VM 6.25% Sterling Senior Secured
Notes. [n connecticn with these transactions. we recognised a net loss on debt modification and extinguishment
of £23.3 million related 1o (a) the payment of £25.7 mitlion of redemption premiums and (b) the write-off of
£2.4 million of net unamortised deferred financing costs. discounts and premiums,

Inthe financial year 2020. the group completed various financing transactions. see note 3| for further details.
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17 Financial liabilities (continued)

Senior credit facitiny

2019 2018
Fhe non-cuarrent insialments due on the serior credit ficility convises of £ million £ million
U.S. Doltar
VM Facility K
LIBOR 1 2.30% senior credit facility due 2026 (principal at maturity $3.400.0 248201 2.664.6
million)
Euro
VM Facility O
EURIBOR - 2.50° senior credit faciliny due 2029 (principal at maturity €730.0 633.4 -
million}y
Sterling
VAL Faciling L
LIBOR~ 3.23% senior credit faciline due 2027 (principal al maturity £400.0 million) 400.0 H400.0
!
VA Facility M
LIBOR+ 3.25% senior credit facility due 2027 (principal at maturity £306.0 million) +96.1 4650 .
10146 356306
l.ess: issue costs {16.2) 123.8)
Senior credit tacility due after more than one year 3.908.4 3.5339.8
Fhe current instalmeni of the senive Credit fucility consids of :
VA Revolving Facility
LIBOR~ 2.753% revolving facility - -
Total senior credit facility T 39984 35308 ‘

ln October 2019, Virgin Nedia SFA Finance Limited (i) entered into VM Facilin N, a $3300.0 million
(£2.488.1 million) term loan facility. and V! Facility O, a €750,0 million 1£635.0 million) term loan facility,
both issued at 99.75% of par. and {ii} issued £400.0 million principal amount of 2030 VAL Sterling Senior
Secured Notes at par. The net proceeds from these transactions, together with certain other funds. were used to
(a) prepay in full the $3.400.0 million (£2.363.5 million} outstanding principal amount on VM Facility K and
(b) redeem in fuli (1Y $1.000.0 million (£754.0 miltion) cutstanding principal amount of the 2026 VM 3.25%,
Doilar Senior Secured Notes and (2) £300.0 miliion outstanding principal amount of the 2025 VN 5.125% '
Sterling Senjor Secured Notes. In connection with these transactions. we recognised a net loss on debt

modification and extinguishment of £53.3 million related to (A} the payment of £36.3 million of redemption

premiums and (B) the write-off of £17.0 million of net unamortised deferred financing costs, discounts and

premiums.
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17 Financial liabilities (continued)

The VM Credit Facility reguires that certain members of the \irgin Media Berrowing Group that generate not
less than 80% of such group’s EBITDA (as defined in the VM Credit Facility) in any financial year. guaraniee
the payment of afl sums pavable under the VM Credit Facility and such group members are required to grant
first-ranking security over all or substantially all of their assets to secure the payment of all sums payable. in
addition. the holding company of each barrower must give a share pledge over its shares in such borrower.

At 31 December 2019, the senior secured credit facilities of the group included two multi currency revolving
credit facilities {"Revolving Facility" Revolving Facility A was a multi currency revoelving facility maturing on
31 December 2021 with a maximum borrowing capacity equivalent to £30.0 mitlion, and Revolving Facility B
was a multi currency rtevolving facility maturing on 15 January 2024 with a maximum borrowing capucity
equivalent to £930.0 million.

[n addition 10 mandatory prepayments which must he made for certain disposal proceeds (subject to certain de
minimis thresholds). the landers may cancel their commitments and declare the loans due and payable after 30
business davs following the occurrence of a change of control in respect of Virgin Vedia Investment Holdings
Limited. subject to certain exceptions.

The VM Credit Facility contains certain customary events of default, the oceurrence of which. subject to certain
exceptions and materiality qualifications, would allow the lenders to (i) cancel the total commitments, (ii)
accelerate all outstanding loans and terminate their commitments there under and or (iii) declare that all or part
of the loans be payable on demand. The VM Credit Faciliny contains certain representations and warranties
customary for facilities of this type. which are subject to exceptions, baskets and materialiy qualifications.

The VM Credit Facility restricts the ability of certain members of the Virgin Media Borrowing Group to, among
other things_ (i) incur or guarantee certain financial indebtedness. (ii} make certain disposals and acquisitions
and (iii) create certain security interests over their assets, in each case. subject to carve-outs from such
limitations.

The VM Credit Facility requires the borrowers to observe certain affirmative undertakings or covenants. which
covenants are subject to materiality and other customary and agreed exceptions. [n addition. the VN Credit
Facility also requires compliance with various financial covenunts such as Senior Net Debt to Annualised
EBITDA and lotal Net Debt to Annualised EBITDA. each cepitalised term as defined in the VM Credit
Facility.

In addition to customary default provisions, the VM Credit Facility provides that any event of default with
respect to indebtedness of £50.0 mitlion or more in the aggregare of the company. and its subsidiaries is an
event of default under the VN Credit Facility.

The VN Credit Facility permils certain members of the Virgin Media Borrowing Group to make certain
distributions and restricted pavments to its parent company (and indirectly to Liberty Global) through foans,
advances or dividends subject to compliance with applicable covenants.

Restrictions
The agreements governing the senior notes and the senior credit facility signiticantly. and. in some cases,
absolutely restrict the group's abitity and the ability of most of its subsidiaries to.

* incur or guarantee additional indebtedness:

s pay dividends or make other distributions. or redeem or repurchase equity interests or subordinated
obligations:

* make investments:

e sell assets, including shares in subsidiaries:

s create liens:

e enier into agreements that restrict the restricted subsidiaries” abitity to pay dividends. transfer assets or
make intercompansy loans:

+ merge or consolidate or transfer substantially all of the group’s assets: and

+  enter into transactions with affiliates.
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18 Leases

Generaf
We enter into leases tor network equipment. real estate and vehicles.

ROU assets
Right-of-use assets related to leased properties that do not meet the definition of investment property are
presenied as property. plant and equipment.

2019
£ million
L.and and Build Li4
Network 8.2
Other 181.5
201.2
Additions to the right-ot~use assets during the 2019 financial year were £47.000.000
Amaounts recognised in profit
['he income statement shows the following amounts retated to leases:
2019
£ million
Depreciation charge of right-ot-use assets;
Land and Buildings 1.5
Network 3.4
Other 37.1
42.0
Interest expense 10.8
Short-term lease expense -
52.8
I he total cash outtlow for leases in 2019 was £48.000.000.
Leuse liahilities
Mlaturities of our lease liabilities as of December 31, 2019 are presented below:
2019
£ million
Less than one year 46.3
One to Hve years 131.7
More than five years 197.6
Total undiscounted lease liabilities 373.6
Impact of finance expenses (154.1)
Lease liabitity included in the statement of financial positon 2215
Current 33.3
Non Current 188.0
Check 2243

The weighted average lessee’s incremental borrowing rate applied to the lease liabilities on | January 2019 was
5.64%.

N
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19 Provisions

20

Property
related Other
costs provisions Total
£ million £ million £ million
At 31 December 2018 and I January 2019
Current 2.4 3.1 33
Non-current 1199 1.0 123.9
[22.3 7.1 126.4
Established during the year (1.6} 338 32.2
Used during the vear (3.9 (35.8) (39.9)
Revisions in cashflow estimates .3 - 1.3
Movement in discount rate 54 - 54
At 31 December 2019 123.5 5.1 [28.5
Analysed as:
Current 1.4 2.2 36
Non-current 1221 29 124.9
123.5 5.1 128.5

Property related costs
Property related costs expected to be incurred are mainly in relation to dilapidations costs on leasehold
properties. The majority of the costs are expected 1o be incurred over the next 23 years.

Qther provisiony
Other provision elements mainly consist of National [nsurance contributions on share options and restricted
stock unit grants and redundancy costs resulting from restructuring programmes.

Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies

I he group's principal financial liabilities. other than derivatives. comprise bank loans (senior credit facility).
Senior notes, senior secured notes. finance leases, vendor financing. trade pavables. hire purchase contracts and
lpans made to parent and fellow group undertakings. With the exception of rade pavables the main purpose of
the financial liabilities is to raise finance for the Virgin Media group's operations. The group has various
financial assets such as trade receivables and cash and short term deposits, which arise directlsy from its
Gperations.

The group is exposed 1o various market risks. including credit risk. foreign exchange rate risk. liquidity risk and
interest rate risk. Market risk is the potential loss arising from adverse changes in market rates and prices. As
some of the group's indebtedness accrues interest at variable rates there is exposure to volatility in future cash
flows and earnings associated with variable interest pay ments.

Interest and principal obligations on some indebtedness are in 11.S. dollars and euros. As a result the group has
exposure to volatility in future cash flows and eamings associated with changes in foreign exchange rates on
payments of interest and principal amounts on a portion of its indebtedness.

The group has entered into various derivative instruments W manage interest rate risk, and foreign exchange
risk with respect to the U.S. dollar. comprising of interest rate swaps. cross-currency interest rate swaps and
foreign currency forward contracts. The objective is to reduce the volatility of the group’s cash flows and
earnings caused by changes in underiyving rates.

The main risks arising from the group's financial liabiiities are described below:

{nterest rate risk

The group is subject to interest rate risk because it has substantial indebtedness at variable rates of interest. At
31 December 2019, before taking into account hedying instruments. interest is determined on a variable basis
on £4,014.6 million (2018 - £3.563.5 milliony or 32% (2018 - 29%) of indebiedness. relating solely 10 amounts
drawn dewn on the senior credit facilities. The group aims to reduce the volatility ot'its cash flows and earnings
as a result of fluctuations in interest rates through the use of derivative financial instruments.

h
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20 Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies (continued)

Interest raie risk profile of financial assets
The group’s financial assets include cash on money market deposit at call. seven day and monthly rates. and
amounts owed by parent undertakings and related parties charged at variable interest rates.

Sensitivity analysis of changes in interest raies

Interest rate risks are presented by way of a sensitivity analysis in accordance with IFRS 7 Financial
fnsirumenis. Disclosures’. These show the effects of changes in market interest rates on interest payments.
interest income and expense, other components and. as appropriate. equity. The interest rate sensitivity analyses
are based on the following assumptions:

e Changes in market inferest rates of non-derivative financial instruments with fixed interest rates only
affect income it measured at tair value. As such. all financial instruments with fived interest rates chat
are carried at amortised cost are not subject to interest rate risk as defined by {FRS 7.

e Changes in market interest rates affect the interest income or expense of non-derivative variable-
interest financial instruments, the interest pavments of which are not designated as hedged items of
cash flow hedges against interest rate risks.  As a consequence, they are included in the calculation of
interest rate sensitivities.

*  Changes in the market interest rate of interest rate derivatives (interest rate swaps and cross-currency
interest rate swaps) that are not part of a hedging refationship as set out i 1FRS @ “finuncial
Instrumendy” affect gains or losses on derivatives and are therefore taken into consideration in the
calculation of interest rate sensitivities.

e Foreign currency forward rate contracts are not subject to interest rate risks and theretore do not affect
interest rate sensitivities,

Based on debt at 31 December 2019, including amounts owed © and due from parent and group undertakings.
and taking into consideration hedging instruments, a 0.23% movement in market interest rates would result in
an annual increase or decrease in the gross interest income/expense of £8.6 million (2018 - 3 0.25% movement
in market interest rates would result in an annual increase or decrease in the gross interest income expense of
£8.3 million). Movements in gross interest expense would be recognised in tinance income and finance costs in
the Group [ncome Statement,

Forgidn curreney exchange yate rivk

The group is also subject to foreign currency exchange risks because interest and principal obligations with
respect 1o a portion of its indebtedness is denominated in 11.S. dollars and curos. To the extent that the pound
declines in vajue against the (U8, dollar and the euro. the effective cost of servicing ULS. dollar and euro
denominated debt will be higher. Changes in the exchange rate result in foreign currency gains or losses.

As of 31 December 2019 the group had £3.890.3 million (2018 - £5.532.9 million), or 419 (2017 45%) of
external indebtedness. denominated in U.S dollars and £1,022.9 million 12018 - £413.3 million). or 9%6 (2018 -
3% of external indebtedness. denominated in euros {see note 17} The group has a programme o place to
mitigate the risk of losses arising from adverse changes in foreign currency exchange rates which uses a number
ob derivative financial instruments. When taking into consideration cross curreney interest rate swaps and
toreign currency forward rate vontracts. the majority of external debt is hedged against foreign currency
exchange rate risk.

For the year ended 31 December 2019 the group had foreign currency gains of £200.7 million (2018 - losses of
£326.1 million).

I'he gains for the year ended 31 December 2019 were primarily due to the strengthening of pound sterling
relative to the L3S dollar in respect of the U.S. dollar denominated debt issued by the group. partially offsct by
the US| dollar denominated debt advanced to group undertakings. The losses tor the vear ended 31 December
2018 were primarily due 1o the weakening of pound sterling relative to the LLS. dollar in respect of the ULS,
dollar denominated debt issued by the group. partially offset by the LS. dollar denominated debt advanced to
egroup undertakings.
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20 Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies (continued)

Seasuivity analysis of changes in foreign currency exchunge rates

For the presentation of market risks. IERS 7. 'Financial Instruments  Disclosures’ requires sensitivity analysis
that shows the effects of hypothetical changes of foreign currency exchange rates of relevant risk variables on
profit or loss and shareholders' equity. The periodic effects are determined by relating the hy pothetical changes
in risk variables to the balance of financial instruments at the reporting date. It is assumed that the balance at the
reporting date is representative of the year as a2 whole,

Currency risks are defined by [FRS 7 as arising on account of financial instruments being denominated in a
currency other than the functional currency and being of a monetary nature. Relevant risk variables are
generally all non-functional currencies in which the group has financia! tiabilities. excluding amounts due to
parent undertakings.

The currency sensitivity analysis is based on the following assumptions:

Major non-derivative monetary financial instruments (liquid assets. receivables and finance lease liabilities) are
directly deneminated in the functional currency. There are therefore no foreign exchange fluctuations in respect
of these instruments which have an effect on profit or loss or sharcholders' equity. Interest income and expense
from financial instruments are also either recorded in the functional currency or transterred to the functional
currengy using derivatives.

The group has a number of derivative instruments with various counterparties to manage its exposure 1o
changes in foreign currency exchange rates. Exchange rate fluctuations. on which the financial instruments are
based. atfect gains or losses on derivatives in the finance income or finance costs lines. respectively, of the
Group Income Statement.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in the pound sterling against
LS. dollar and euro exchange rates with all other variables remaining constant, ot the group's profit before tax.
Due to foreign exchange translation of monetary assets and liabilities, the impact of trans!ating the net assets of
foreign operations into sterling is excluded from the sensitivity analysis:

Inerease/ Efiect on
decrease in profit/iloss)
exchange before tax
rates £ million
019
Serling 'S doliar =20% 8ol
Sterling LS. dollar 0% 112310
Sterling euro =200 266.2
Sterling euro -2 i:16.5
018
Sterling U8, dallar 2% 0253
Sterling LS dollar 2% A8
Sterling euro 4, 103
Sterling euro S G54

Liqquidity risk und capital management

The company is a wholly owned subsidiary and its ultimate parent company is {iberty Global ple. Capital
management policies are operated at a Virgin Media group level by the management of Liberty Global ple. The
agreements that govern the Virgin \ledia group's indebiedness set out financial maingenance tests and restricrive
covenants. and it is the policy of the Virgin Media group to maintain adequate headroom against these tests and
covenants.

L
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20 Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies (continued)

The Virgin Media group's business is capital intensive and the Virgin Media group is highly leveraged. The
Virgin Media group has significant cash requirements for operating costs. capital expenditure and interest
expense. The level of the Virgin Media group's capital and operating expenditures are affected by significant
amounts of capital required to connect customers to the network. expand and upgrade the network and otfer
new services. Cash on hand. together with cash from operations and an undrawn credit facility. are expected to
be sufficient for the Virgin Media group's cash requirements through to 12 months from the date of this report.
The Virgin Media group has significant scheduled repayments that may need to be financed through means
other than reliance on cash flow from operations. such as raising additional debt or equity, refinancing the
existing Facility, possible loans from parent undertakings or related pasties, sale of assets or other means, [t may
not be possible to obrain adequate financing, or sell assets at all, or on favourable terms. or the terms of the
senior eredit facility or senior notes may prevent the Virgin Media group from incurring additional indebredness
or selling assets.

As of 31 December 2019 the group had £11.929.6 million of external debt (including finance leases, vendor
financing and net of deferred finance costs) outstanding, compared to £12.371.0 million as ot 31 December
2018 and cash and cash equivalents of £33.9 million compared to £16.2 million at 3| December 2018.

The principal amount outstanding under the senior credit facility at 31 December 2019 was £4.014.6 million
(2018 - £3.363.7 million). The senior credit facility comprises two term facilities denominated in pounds
sterling of £400.0 million and £499.0 miilion respectively (2018 £400.0 miflion and £499.0 million). one term
facility denominated in LS. dollar of £2.482.0 mitlion (2018 - £2.664.6 million). onc term facility denominated

in euro of £633.4 (2018 - £nily and one revolving facility of £1.000.0 million (2018  two revolving facilities ot

£625.0 million and £30.0 million). At 31 December 2019, £4.014.6 million (2018 - £3.539.8 million) of the
term facilities net of issue costs had been drawn. The group had £675.0 million available of its revolving credit
facilities for bank guarantees and standby letters of credit.

I'he wroup does not have any scheduled principal payments on its senior notes and senior credit facitity until
2022 However. it the group was unable to meet repayment conditions or service these obligations through cash
flows from operations, then it would need to secure additional funding such as raising additional debt or equity.
refinancing the existing tacility. selling assets or using other neans. {tinay not be possible to obrain financing
or sell assets, at all or on favourable terms. or the group may be contractually prevented by the terms of its
senior notes or senior credit facility from incurming additional indebtedness or selling assets.

A maturity analysis of financial Habilities, outstanding at 31 December. showing the remaining contractual
undiscounted amounts payable. including ipterest commitments, is shown below:

Less Greater than
than | year 1to S years Syears Total
2019 £ million £ million £ million £ million
Senior credit facility. senior notes and senior
secured notes 5453 3160.3 0.9397 13,6653
Vendor financing 1.871.7 St - [932.8
tinance lease and hire purchuase contracts 8.6 28.2 134.6 1754
Derivative contracts 638 1986 2720 5364
2018
Senior credit facility, senior notes and senior
secured notes 393.3 3.500.2 10.187.8 143413
Vendor financing 1.942.7 48.7 2.7 1.994.1
Finance lease and hire purchase contracts 5.6 28.3 135.5 173.6
Derivative contracts 10.9 79.8 28319 3746

The above amounts exclude other financial liabilities. such as trade payabies. which are all repavable in less
than one vear. Amounts owed o parent and group undertakings have also been excluded as they are repayable
on demand.
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20 Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies (continued)

21

Credit risk

Credit rish is the risk that one party 10 a financial instrument will cause a financial loss for the other party by
failing 1o discharge an obligation. The group's financial instruments that are exposed to concentrations of credit
tisk consist primarily of cash. trade receivables and derivative contracts.

At 31 December 2019, the group had £33.9 million (2018 - £16.2 million) in cash and cash equivalents. These
cash and cash equivalents are on deposit with a number of major financial institutions and. as part of the Virgin
Media group's vash management process, regular evaluatiens of the credit standing of these institutions are
performed using a range of metrics. lhe group has not experienced any losses in cash balances and
management do not believe it is exposed 1o any significant credit risk on its cash balances.

Concentrations of credit risk with respect to trade receivables are limited because of the large number of
customers and their distribution across a wide geographic area. The Virgin Media group performs credit
evaluaticns of its business customers” financial condition and generally does not require collateral. No single
group or customer represents greater than 10% of total accounts receivable,

Concentrations of credit risk with respect to derivative contracts are focused within a limited number of
international financial institutions with which the Virgin Media group transacts and relate only to derivatives
with recorded asset balances. The Liberty Global group performs regular reviews of the financial institutions
with which it transacts as to their credit worthiness and financial condition. The group includes a credit risk
adjustment based upon the credit default swap spread in the valuation of derivative instruments. frowever, the
group does not expect there to be any significant non-performance risks associated with its counterparties.

Financial Instruments
Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities - financial risk management

The company and group have obligations in 2 combination of US dollars, euros. and pounds sterling at fixed
and variable intcrest rates. As a result the group is exposed to variability in its cash flows and earnings resulting
from changes in foreign currency exchange rates and interest rates.

The group’s objective in managing its exposure to interest rates and foreign currency exchange rates is to
decrease the volatility of ity earnings and cash flows caused by changes in the underlying rates. The group has
established policies and procedures o govern these exposures and has entered into derivative financial
instruments including interest rate swaps. cross-currency interest rate swaps and foreign currency forward rate
contracts.  Subsidiaries of Virgin Media Finance PLC hold financial instruments which hedge the foreign
currency risk of debt issued by its fellow group undertakings. 1t is the group's policy not to enter into derivative
financial instruments for speculative trading purposes. nor to enter into derivative financial instruments with a
fevel of complexity or with a risk that is greater than the exposure to be managed. The amounts below include
amounts relating to short term as well as long term payables.

With the exception of a limited number of foreiun currency forward contracts. the aroup has elected not to
designate derivative instruments as accounting hedges. although these remain economic hedges.
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21 Financial Instruments {continued)

T he fair values of derivative Hnancial instruments recognised in the Group Balance Sheet are as follows:

Included within current ussets:

Fuir valie hedges
Interest rate swaps
Cross-currency inferest rale swaps

Derivatives not designuied us hedves
Interest rate swaps
Cross-currency interest rate swaps
Foreign Currency Forward Contract

Included within non-current ussets!
Fuir value hedyges
Interest rate swaps
Cross-CUrrency INIerest rale swaps
Dorivatives not designuted as hodues
Interest rate swaps
Cross-currency inferest rate swaps

Included within current labilines.
Derivatives not designated as hedyes
Interest rate swaps
Cross-currencs interest rate swaps
Foreign Currency Forward Contract

Inchuded within non-current Labifitioy:
Derivatives not desiznated as hedges
Interest rate swaps
Cross-currency interest rafe swaps

2019 2018
£ million £ million
i7.7 17.1
38 10.0
27.6 218
313 924
B .
82.4 113.0
39 227
37.6 737
735 37.7
3109 6058
430.9 741.9
126.1 472
7.0 347

0.3 -
133.6 819
2410 2423
161.8 304
402.8 2927

Cross-currency interest rate swaps - hedging the principal and interest payments of senior notes and

senior credit facility

| he terms of the group’s outstanding crass-currency interest rate swaps. which are used to mitigate the interest
and foreign exchange rate risks relating to the pound sterling value of principal and interest payments on ULS.
dollar and curo denominated senior notes and senior secured notes at 31 December 2019, were as follows:

Final maturity

date of hedges Hedge type
January 2023 Not designated
April 2019 - January 2025 Not designated
January 2021 Fair value
January 2023 Not designated

Notional

amount

due from

counterparty

million
$246.3
$10.584.7
32729

£2.296.2

[ ]]
(o34}

Notional
amount

due to
counterparty
million
£271.1
£7.835.0
£168.6
$3.300.0

Weighted

remaining

average

life
3.0
5.8
1.0

5.1
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21 Financial Instruments (continued)

Interest rate swaps - hedging of interest rate sensitive obligations

As of 31 December 2019 the group had outstanding interest rate swap agreements to manage the exposure o
variability in future cash flows on the interest payvments associated with its semior credit facility which accrues
at variable rates based on LIBOR. The group has also entered into interest rate swap agreements to manage ils
exposure to changes in the fair value ot certain debt obligaticns due to interest rate fluctuations. The interest
rate swaps allow the group to receive or pay interest based on six month LIBOR or fixed rates in exchange for
pavments or receipts of interest at six month LIBOR or fixed rates.

The terms of the group’s outstanding interest rate swap contracts at 31 December 2019 were as follows:

Final maturity

date of hedge Hedge tvpe Pay fixed rate Receive fixed rate
Weighted Weighted
Notional average Notional average
million remaining life million remaining life
January 2020 - January 2023 Not designated ELT14.3 21 €714.7 1.2
January 2023 Not designated - - $354.5 3.0
January 2020 - May 2027 Not designated £15,3529 27 £7.202.1 1.7
January 2021 Fair value - - £628.4 1.0

The notional amounts of multiple derivative instruments that mature within the same calendar month are shown
It aggregate.

Interest rate swaptions

The group has entered into various interest rate swap options (swaptions). which give the right. but no
obligation, to enter inio certain interest rate swap contracts at set dates in the future. with each such contract

having a life of no more than three vears. At the transaction date. the strike rate of each of these contacts was
above the corresponding market rate.

The terms of outstanding interest rate swap option contracts at 31 December 2019 were as follows:

Notional Weighted

amount Underlying  average option

due from swap expiration

Final maturity date Hedge type counterparty currency period
millien

October 2022 - January 20260 Not designated £5.3424 £ O

January 2023 - January 2025 Not designated £364.0 € 0.6

Basis Swaps

The terms of outstanding basis swap contracts at 31 December 2019 were as lollows:

Notional Notional Weighted

amount amount average

due from due to remaining

Final maturity date Hedge type counterparty  counterparty tife
million million

July 2020 Not designated £900.0 £900.0 1.3

July 2020 Not designated $3.300.0 $3.300.0 0.5

)]
No)
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21 Financial Instruments {continued)

Foreign currency forward options and forward contracts

The group has entered into external foreign currency forward options and foreign currency forward contracts in
order to manage foreign currency exposure risk with respect to Indian rupee (INR ).

Foreign currency forward options

'he following foreign currency forward options with a third party were in place at 31 December 2010:

Exchange currency Notional amount
million
Indian rupee £3.5

Foreign currency forward contracts
The tollowing foreign currency forward contracts with a related party were in place at 31 December 2019:

Maturity dates Currency purchase forward Currency sold forward
milllion milllion
January 2020 - June 2020 §10.0 £7.9

Cash flow hedges

The group has elected not 1o designate derivative instruments as accounting hedges. although these remain
economic hedges. The group has recognised effective portion of gains on losses in the unrealised gains and
losses in the Group Statement of Comprehensive lncome as result of historic derivative instruments that were
designated as cash flow hedges and hedges of commercial operational contracts.

Changes in the fair values of derivative instruments are recorded as gains or losses on derivative instruments in
the Group Income Statement in the period in which they occur. The following table presents movements in
Other Comprehensive Income related to cash flow hedges for the year ended 31 December 2019:

Craoss
currency
interest rate
Total swaps  Tax effect
£ million £ million £ million
Balance at 31 December 2018 33 (15.60 20.9
Amounts recognised in Statement of
Comprehensive Income reclassified to earnings 34 54 -
Balance at 31 December 2019 0.7 (10.2) 209

Included within amounts reclassitied to earnings is £3.4 million of net losses that have been recycled from the
cash flow hedge reserve through the income statement in respect of swaps for which either designation was
revoked. or the hedged instrument was settled as part of refinancing activities,

Fair value hedges
For derivative instruments that are designated and qualify as fair value accounting hedges, the gain or loss on

derivatives is recognised in the Group Income Statement in the period in which they occur, together with any
changes in the fair value of the hedged debt obligations due to changes in the hedged risks.
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Financial Instruments {continued)

Fair values of financial assets and liabilities

Set out below is a comparisen by category of carrying values and fair values of the group's financial assets and
finahcial liabilities. where ditferent. as at 31 December:

2019 2019 2018 2018
Carrying value Fair value Carrying value Fair vaiue
£ million £ million £ million £ million
Senjor credit facility (3.998.4) 4,126 8) 13,3398, (3,600.1)
53.23% LS. dollar senior notes due 2022 {38.9} (39.74 (49.7) {49.6}
4.875% LS. dollar senior notes dus 2022 (341 (35.0) (38.3) (57.6)
3. 125% pound sterling senior notes due 2022 (44.2) (4.0} (+1.3) (4.1
6.375% pound sterling senior notes due 2024 - - {298.4) (302.3}
6% LS. dollar senior notes due 2024 (372.6) 13875 (387.3} (377.1})
+4.5%, euro senior notes due 2023 (386.7) 400.7) (405.9) (409.7}
5.75% .S, dollor senior notes due 2023 (261 .4} 1302.5) (311.7) (296.2
5.50°, pound sterling senior secured notes due 2021 - - (106.9) (113.7)
3.25% U.S. dollar senior secured notes due 2021 - - (354.0) (348.0)
5.3% pound sterling senior secured notes due 2025 - - (385.8) (386.0)
3.3% U.S. dollar senior notes due 2023 - - 1277.3) {274.2)
3.123% pound sterling senior secured notes due 2025 - - (298.0) (298.4)
6.0% pound sterling senior secured notes due 2023 {3399 15375.0) 15327 (579
3.25% U.S. doltar senior secured notes due 2026 - - (786.0) (7230
5.5% U.S. dollar senior secured notes due 2026 (561.7) (395.9) (583.9) (549.0)
4.873% pound sterling senior secured notes due 2027 {(323.6) (542.9) (3234 (494.8)
5.0% pound sterling senior secured notes due 2027 (672.1) (717.6) (671.6) (639.3)
6.23% pound sterling senior secured notes due 2029 {360.7) (385.3) (400.8) (402.9)
5.50% 1.8 dollar senior secured notes due 2029 (1.077.3} (1424 - -
3.23% pound sterling senior secured notes due 2029 (340.1) (368.9) - -
+4.23% pound sterling senior secured notes due 2030 (3964 (108.3) - -

The carrving values of amounts not listed above approximate their fair values.

The group uses the following hierarchy for determining and disclosing the fair value of financial instruments by
valuation technique:

Level 1 L nadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liahilities.

Level 2 Unadjusted quoted prices in active markets tor similar assets or liabilities: or
Unadjusted guoted prices for identical or similar assets or liabilities in markets that are not active: or
Inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the asset or liability.

Level 3 Unobservable inputs for the asset or laability.

The gronp endeavours lo utilise the best available information in measuring tair value. Financial assets and

liabilities are classified in their entirety based on the lowest level of Input that is significant to the fair value
measurement.
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Financial Instruments (continued)

As at 31 December 2019, the fair value ot the financial instruments held by the group is as tollows:

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
£ million £ million £ million £ million
Financial assets at fair value

Cash, short tenn deposits and restricted cash 3509 - - 3359
Cross-currency interest rate swaps - 3RS.6 - 3836
Interest rate swaps - 127.7 - 127.7
53.9 3133 - 569.2

Financial liabilities at fuir value
Scaior credit facility L1268 - - 41268
Senier notes 1.229.2 - - 1.220.2
Senior secured notes 28243 - - 28243
Cross-currendy interest rate swaps - [68.8 - 168.8
[nterest rate swaps - 3484 18.7 367.1
Foreign currency forward rate contracts - 0.3 - 0.5
8.180.3 317.7 18.7 8.716.7

[n estimating the fair value of other ftinancial instruments. the group used the following methods and
assumptions:

Cash and short term deposits, aad restricted cash: The carrying amounts reported in the Group Balance Sheet
approximate fair value due 1o the short maturity and nature of these financial instruments.

Derivative fingncial instruments  As a result of the group's financing activities. it is exposed to market risks
trom changes in interest and Toteivn cuneney eschange rates, which muy adversely affect its operating results
and financial position. When deemed appropriate. the group minimises risks from interest and toreign currency
exchange rate fluctuations through the use of derivative financial instruments. The foreign currency forward
rate contracts. interest rate swaps (excluding swapiions) and cross-currengy interest rate swaps are valued using
broker quotations, or market transactions in either the listed or over-the counter markets. adjusted for non-
performance risk. As such, these derivative instruments are classified within level 2 of the fair value hierarchy.
Due to the lack of Level 2 inputs for the swaption valuations. the group believe these vatuations fall under
Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy.

Senior notes, senior secured notes and credin facilioy- The fair values of the senior credit tacility, senior notes
and senior secured notes in the above tahle are based on the quoted market prices in active markets for the
underlying third party debt and incorporate non-performance risk. Accordingly. the inputs used to value the
sentor notes and senior secured notes are classifled within level | of the fair value hierarchy.

During the year. there were no transfers between Level | Level 2 and Level 3.

Equity share capital

2019 2018
£ 000 £ 000
Aowed, called wp and fully paid
76,184 (2018 - 76,1 84y ordinary shares of £1 each 76 76
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23 Share-based payments

The group’s employees are entitled to partake in Liberty Global ple share-based schemes. These share schemes
consist of stock options and perfoermance plans including stock appreciation rights (“SARs”). performance-
based share appreciation rights ("PSARs™). restricted stock. restricted stock units ("R5U's™) and performance
share units (“PSUs™. The schemes provide share based compensation to individuals under the conditions
describe below. The grant date tair values for options. share appreciation rights (SARs) and performance-based
share appreciation rights (PSARs) are estimated using the Black-Scheles option pricing model. and the grant
date fair values for restricted share units (RSUs) and performance-based restricted share units (PSUs) are based
upon the closing share price of Liberny Global ordinary shares on the date of grant. We calculate the expected
lite of options and SARs granted by Liberty Global to employces based on historical exercise trends. The
arrangements are equity settled with the employees. Liberty Global recharges the group for share schemes made
avaitable 10 the group employees.

Full detailed information on the group’s share based paymenis are disclosed in the financial statements of
Virgin Media [nc. which ate available on Liberty Global's website at www.libertyglobal.com.

I'he income statement charge for share based payments for the year was £45.1 million (2018: £27.2 million).

Liberty Global Share [ncentive Plans

As of December 31, 2019, we are authorised to grant incentive awards under the Liberty Global 20 H4 Incentive
Plan and the Liberty Global 2014 Nonemployee Director Incentive Plan. Generally, we may grant non-qualified
share options. SARs. PSARs, restricted shares, RSUs, cash awards. performance awards or any combination of
the foregoing under either of these incentive plans (collectively, awards). Ordinary shares issuable pursuant to
awards made under these incentive plans will be made available from either authorized but unissued shares or
shares that have been issued but reacquired by our company. Awards may be granted at or above fair value in
any class of ordinary shares. The maximum number of Liberty Global shares with respect to which awards may
be issued under the Liberty Global 2014 Incentive Plan and the Liberty Global 2014 Nonemployee Director
Incentive Plan is 135 million (of which no more than 30.25 million shares may consist of Class B ordinary
shares) and 0.3 million. respectively. in each case. subject to anti-ditlution and other adjustment provisions in
the respective plan. As of December 31. 2019, the Liberty Global 2014 Incentive Plan and the Liberty Global
2014 Nonemployee Director Incentive Plan had 71.262.640 and 8.652,029 ordinary shures available for grant.
respectively.

Awards {other than performance-based awards) under the Liberty Global 2014 Incentive Plan generally (1) vest
12.5%% on the six month anniversary of the grant date and then vest at a rate of 6.25% euach quarter thereaficr
and (ii) expire seven years after the grant date. Awards (other than RSUs) issued under the Liberty Global 2014
Nonemployee Director Incentive Plan generally vest in three equal annual instalments. provided the director
continues to serve as director immediately prior to the vesting date. and expire seven years after the grant date,
RSUs vest on the date of the first annual general meeting of sharehoelders following the grant date. These
awards may be granted at or above fair value in any class of ordinary shares.

Liberty Global Performance Awards

The following is a summary of the material terms and coenditions with respect to Liberty Global's performance-
based awards for certain executive officers and key employees for which awards were granted under the Liberty
Global Incentive Plan and the Virgin Media Incentive Plan.

Libern Clobal PST s

[n March 2045, Liberty Global's compensation committes approved the grant of PSUs to executive officers and
key emplovees (the 2015 PSUs). The performance plan for the 2015 PSLUs covered a two-year period ending 31
December 2016 and included a performance target based on the achievement of a specified compound annual
growth rate (CAGR) in a consolidated operating cash flow metric 1as defined 1n the applicable underlying
agreement). The performance target was adjusted for events such as acquisitions. dispositions and changes in
foreign currency exchange rates that affect comparabilits (OCF CAGRY and the participant’s annual
pertormance ratings during the two-vear performance period. Participants eamed 99.5%, of their targeted
awards under the 2015 PSUs, which vested 50% on each of 1 April 2007 and | October 2017.
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24

In February 2016, Liberty Global's compensation committee approved the grant of PSUs to executive officers
and key employees (the 2016 PSUs) pursuant to a performance plan that is based on the achievement of a
specified OCF CAGR during the three-y ear period ending December 31, 2018, The 2016 PSUs require delivery
of'a compound annual growth rate of our consolidated OCF CAGR of 6.0% during the three-vear performance
period. with over- and under-performance payout opportunities should the OCF CAGR exceed or fail to meet
the target. as applicable. The performance pavout may be adjusted at the compensation committee’s discretion
for events that may affect comparability. such as changes in foreign currency exchange rates and accounting
principles or policies. The 2016 PSUs will vest 30% on each of | April 2019 and 1 October 2010, During 2018,
the compensation committee of Liberty Global's board of directors approved the grant of PSUs 1o executive
officers and key employees ithe 2018 PSLUis) pursuant to a performance plan that is based on the achievement of
a specified Adjusted OIBDA CAGR during the two-year period ending 31 December 2019. The 2018 PSUs
include over- and under performance payout opportunities should the Adjusted OIBDA CAGR exceed or fail to
meet the target, as applicable. A performance range of 30%0 to 123% of the target Adjusted QIBDA CAGR wili
eenerally result in award recipients eaming 30%q to 130% of their targel 2018 PSUs, subject to reduction or
forfeiture based on individual performance. The earned 2018 PSUs will vest 30% on | April 2020 and 30°%s on
I October 2020, The target Adjusted QIBDA CAGR for the 2018 PSUs was determined on 26 October 2018
and. accordingly . associated compensation expense has been recognised prospectively from that date.

Libervc Cllohal Challenge Performance  bwards

Effective 24 Jume 2013, Liberty Global's compensation committee approved the Challenge Performance
Awards, which consisted solely of PSARs tor Liberty Global's senmior executive officers and a combination of
PSARs and PSUs for other executive otficers and hev employvees. Fach PSU represented the right to receive
one Liberty Global or LILAC Class A or Class C ordinary share. as applicable. 'he performance criteria for the
Challenge Performance Awards was based on the participant’s performance and achievement of individual
goats in each of the vears 2013, 20014 and 2013, As a result of satisfying pertormance conditions, 100% ot the
then outstanding Challenge Performance Awards vested and became fully exercisable on 24 June 2016, The
PSARs have a term of seven years and base prices equal to the respective market closing prices of the
applicable class on the grant date

Virgin Media Stock fncentive Pluns

Equity awards were granted to certain of the zroup’s employ ees. prior to Liberty Global's acquisition of Virgin
NMedia in June 2013, under certain incentive plans maintained and administered by the group and no new grants
will be made under these incentive plans. The equity awards granted include stock options, restricted shares,
RSUis and performance awards. Awards under the VM [ncentive Plan have a 10-year term and become fully
exercisable within five years of continued empiovment.,

Reserves

ity shure capiicd
The balance classified as share capital represents the nominal value on issue of the company’s equity share
capital. comprising £{ ordinany shares.

Share premivm uccount
Share premium represents the amount ot consideration reccived for the company’'s equity share capital in excess
of the nominal value of shares issued.

Treasury share reserve
The treasury share reserve was created in 2014 and subsequently cancelled in 2018 as a result of group wide
restructures involving the company and tellew Virgin Media group companies.

(dher capiled reserves comprising merger reserve wid capiied contribuwiions
Fhe results of subsidiary undertakings acquired through group recrganisations have given rise to the
requirement to make adjustments on consolidation in the merger reserve.

{ nrealised gains and losses
This reserve records the portion of gain or loss on hedging instruments that are determined to be effective
hedges. and the exchange difterences on retransiation ot foreign operations.
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Reserves (continued)
[oreign currency ranslation reserve
This reserve records the gain or loss on the retransiation of subsidiary undertakings with functional currencies

other than pound sterling.

Retuined edrnings
This reserve records all current and prior period retained profit and losses.

Capital commitments

2019 2018
£ million £ miltion
Amounts contracted for but not provided in the accounts 3317 J14.3

Contingencies

On (9 March 2014, the UK government announced a change in legislation with respect to the charging of VAT
in connection with prompt pavment discounts such as those that the group offer to fixed-line telephony
customers. This change, which took effect on 1 May 2014 impacted the group and some of its competitors. The
UK tax authority issued a decision in the fourth quarter of 2015 challenging the group’s application of the
prompt payment discount rules prier to the [ May 2014 change in legislation. The group appealed this decision.
As part of the appeal process. the group were required to make aggregate payments of £67.0 million,
comprising of the challenged amount of £63.7 million | which the group paid during the fourth quarter of 2015)
and related interest of £3.3 mitlion (which the group paid during the first quarter of 2016). No provision was
recorded by the group at that time as the likelihood of loss was not considered to be probable. The aggregate
amount paid does not include penalties, which could be significant in the event that penalties were to be
assessed. In September 2018, the court rejected the group’s appeal and ruied in favour of the UK tax authority.
Accordingly. during the third quarter of 2018. the group recorded a provision for litigation of £63.7 million and
related interest expense of £3.3 million in the group’s income statemert. The First Tier Tribunal gave
permission to appeal to the Upper Uribunal and the group submitted grounds for appeal on 22 February 2019.

In April 2020, the Upper Tribunal rejected our appeal. ruling in favour of HMRC. The Group is currently
seeking permission to appeal to the Court of Appeal; however. no assurance can be given as to the ultimate
cucome of this matter.

Pension and other post-retirement benefits

T'he group operates two defined benefit schemes in the UK. the NTL Pension Plan and the 1999 ntl Pension
Scheme, and one defined benefit scheme in freland. Virgin Media lreland Limited Defined Benefit Plan. which
provide both penstons in retirement and death benefits to members. Peasion benefits are related to the members’
final salary at retirement and their length of service.

Defined contribution plany

The group contributes o the Virgin Media sponsored group personal pension plans of eligible employees.
Contributions are charged to the Group [ncome Statement as they become payable. in accordance with the rules
of the pians.

Contributions o the defined contribution plans during the period were £27.6 million (2018 - £24.5 million).
The amount of outstanding contributions at 3! December 2019 included within current labilities was £4.1
million (2018 - £3.6 million).

o
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27 Pension and other post-retirement benefits (continued)

Defined benefit plans
'he group recogmises any actuarial gains and lfosses in €ach period in the Group Statement i Comprehensive
Income.

* 1999 ntl Pension Scheme

A subsidiary, Virgin Media Limited. operates a funded pension plan providing detined benefits (71999 ntf
Pension Plan™). The plan has never been opened o0 new entrants except when the plan began and subsequently
on 31 May 2007, on both occasions new members were transferred from other existing plans. T'he Plan was
closed to future accrual on 31 January 2114, The assets of the plan are heid separately from those of' the
company, being invested in units of exempt unit trusts. The plan is funded by the pavment of contributions to
separately administered trust funds. The pension costs are determined with the advice of independent qualified
actuaries on the basis of triennjal valuations using the projected unit credit method.

* NTL Pension Plan

A subsidiary. Virgin Media Limited. operates a funded pension plan providing detined benetits {NT1. Pension
Plan™}. The pension plan was closed to new entrants as of 6 April 1998, The Plan was closed to future accrual
on 31 January 2014, The assets of the plan are held separately from those of the compans. in an independently
administered trust. The plan is funded by the payment of contributions 1o this separately administered trust.
The pension costs are determined with the advice of independent gualitied actuaries on the basis of triennial
valuations using the projected unit credit method.

« Virgin Media [reland Limited Defined Benefit Plan

A subsidiary. Virgin Media Ireland Limited, operates a tunded pension plan providing defined benefits (“Virgin
Media lreland Limited Defined Benefit Plan™ previousty called the "UPC Communications freland Limited
Defined Benefit Plan™). The Plan was closed to future accrual on 31 July 2015, The assets o the plan are held
scparately  from those of the company. in an independently administered trust. The plan is funded by the
payment of contributions to this separately administered trust. The pension costs are determined with the advice
af independent qualified actuaries on the basis of triennial valuations using the projected unit credit method.

The plans® assets are measured at fair value. The plans® tiabilines are measured using the projected unit method
and discounted at the current rate of return on a high quality corporate bund.

I'he table below provides summary information on the group’s defined benefit pians:

2019 2018
£ million £ milion

Projected benetit obligation t617.0) (563.1)
Fair value of plan assets 6935.3 645.0
Net asset 78.3 81.9
et periadic pension cost 0.9 2.2
Net defined benefit asset represented by:
et defined benefit liability (7.9) (7.8)
Net defined benelfit asset 864 80.7

78.3 81.9
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Movements in the defined benefit assets and labtlities are as follows:

Defined benefit obligation Fair value of pian asets et defined benefit ilab ity Jasset
Y 018 2019 2018 2019 2018
£ millian £ miltion £ million £ mitlion £ million £ million
ik Ireland LR Ireland ik Ireland | K freland UK Ircland K Ireland
RBulance at | January IR30 433 [ 1AXK K 1347 fly 7 5% nie 4 R Ny 7 17 K T A i3
Included in mcome statement
Current Adimn serveee ¢osl - . - il M - T I I A - o -
Pasl survice tost - - 20 - - - - - 2T -
[nterest oot meame REXAY] [TER A T 1 170 () 157 [F 24 2, 18 Qg
Included in OC'1
Actuarial Choss) gaim ansimg from
 hanoee 5 e .
_hanges m demographic W e i 13 i . e . 13 i
dsSUMpLons
Changes in finaacial assumpuons coll < (SR 364 ) - - - 160 33 49 nd Ih
[ xperience adjustments i 02 45 T - - - 07 02 143 I u
Return on plan assets ¢xeluding - - -
plun assicli vwiuding ; ; . ; 538 A SR TR TR E ¥ R4S R ol
mlerest ineomy
Other
Contributions pad by the
' c - - - oy 17 127 L7 e 17 127 17
cmplover
b ffects of movements m exchange - P
149 - A {16} - 04 - [ - il
rites
Renctits pad 240 o 202 12 224y A 21 0Dy I & - . -
Balance at 31 December (381.0) {3640 (3304n {331 667.4 281 617 253 86,4 (7.9 8.7 (7.8)

1899 ntl Pension Scheme and NTL Penston Plan have been disclosed within the “UK™ figures.
Virgin Vedia lreland Limited Defined Benehit Plan is shown within the ~ireland™ tigures.

The group’s pension plan weighted-average asset allocations by asset category at 31 Decamber 2019 and 31
December 2018 were as follows:

2019 Ireland
UK long long term
term rate rate of
of return UK total return [reland total
£ mitlion £ million
Equities 5.3% 81.7 2.2% 10.8
Property 5.3% 25 - -
Corporate bonds 200 196.7 2.2% 13.2
Government bonds 1.3% 69.0 - -
Hedge funds 1.8% 89.2 - -
Insurance policy (buyv-in? 2.0% 182.5 - -
(Cash and other 1.3% 46.0 2.2%, 4.1
Total market value of assets ' 6674 s
Present value of plan liabilities 15381.01 136.0)
Net pension assett liability) 564 (7.9}
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27 Pension and other posi-retirement benefits (continued)
2018 freland
LK long long term
term rate rate of
of return UK total return l[reland total
£ million £ million
Equities 5.8% 734 2.2% 0.8
Property 5.8% 3.0 - -
Corporate bonds 2.8% 334 1.2% LE.3
Government bonds 1.8% 66.0 - -
Hedge funds 3.3% RAR - -
Insurance policy (buy-in) 2.8% [71.0 - -
Cush and other 1.8% 60).1 220, 4.2
Total market value of asscls 6197 . 253
Present value of plan liabilities (530.0) (33.1)
Net pension asset (liabitity) 89.7 (7.8}

The trustees of NTL Pension Plan purchased an insurance contract that will pay an income stream to the plan
which is expected w mateh all future cash cutflows in respect ot certain liabilities. The fair value of this
insurance contract is presented as an asset of the plan and 1s measured based on the future cash fiows to be
received under the contract discounted using the same discount rate used to measure the associated Labilities.

Actuarial assumptions .
Ihe following are the principal actuarial assumptions at the reporting date (expressed as weighted averagesy:

2019 2018
UK Jreland [ QN Ireland
Discount rate 2.0% 1.2% 2.8% 2.2%
Future salary increases 2.0% 0.0% 3.2% 0.0%

The assumption for future salary increases is no longer applicable for the Virgin Vedia Ireland Limited Defined
Benefit Plan after 31 July 2015 as the Plan was closed to future acerual from this date and benefits are no longer
linked to salaries. Members of the UK pension schemes who remained emploved by the group retain their
salary link for revatuation of their deferred benefits.

The assumptions relating to longevity underlying the pension liabilities at the balance sheet date are based on
stancdlard actuarial mortality tables and include an aBlowance for future improvements in longevity. The
assumptions are equivalent to expecting a 60-year old to live for a number of years as follows:

Uk
2019 2018
Current pensioner aged 6 (male} 27.3 27.2
Current pensioner aged 60 (female) 9.4 29.0
Future retiree upoen reaching 60 (male) 28.8 28.7
Future retiree upon reaching 60 (female) 30.6 30.6
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28

Pension and other post-retirement benefits (continued)

The assumptions for the Virgin Media lretand Limited pension scheme are equivalent to expecting a 63-year
old to live for & number of years as follows:

[reland
2019 2018
Current pensioner aged 65 1male) 225 224
Current pensioner aged 63 (female) 213 243
Future retiree upan reaching 65 (male) 242 241
Future retiree upon reaching 63 (female) 262 26.1

Sensitivity analysis

The calculation of the defined benefit obligation is sensitive to the assumptions set out above. The following
table summarises how the impact on the defined benefit obligation at the end of the reperting period would have
increased (decreased) as a result of a change in the respective assumptions by 0.25 percent.

2019 2018
Uk Ireland UKk Ireland
Discount rate (241 .4 22.0 (1.5
Inflation 23 04 3l 0.4

In valuing the assets of the UK pension fund at 31 December 2019, mortality assumptions have been made as
indicated above. if life expectancy had been changed to assume that all members of the fund lived for ane year
longer. the value of the reported liabilities at 31 December 2019 would have increased by £26.2 million before
deferred tax for the UK pensions. Life expectancy sensitivity assessment has not been carried out on the Irish
pension scheme.

The above sensitivities are based on the average duration of the benefit obligation determined at the date of the
last full actuarial valuation at 31 December 2019 and are applied to adjust the defined benefit obligation at the
end ot the reporting period for the assumptions concerned. Whilst the analysis does not take account of the full
distribution of cash flows expected under the ptan. it does provide an approximation to the sensitivity of the
assumptions showr.

Funding
The group expects to contribute £2 4 million to the defined benefit pension plans in 2020,

Related party transactions

During the vear, the group entered into transactions in the ordinary course of business with other refated parties.
Transactions entered into during the vear. and trading balances outstanding at 31 December with other related
parties. are as follows;

Services Interest Interest Amounts Amounts
rendered by charged to charged by owed by owed to
related related related related related
party party party party party
Reluted puri £ million £ million £ million £ million £ million
Parent undertakings
2019 - - - - (52.2)
2018 - - - - (3.
1 ellow subsidian
undertakings
2019 - - - 16 -
2018 - - - - 37
Liberty Global group
unduertakings
20109 {2234 2838 - 353 (48.9)
2018 (136.9) 3134 (03 16 8 (h3.9)
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28 Related party transactions (continued)

Parvnt underickings

The group is headed by Virgin Media [ne. and has been indebted to the group. which receives interest income
according to the terms of each loan agreement. The group recharges the ultimate parent company for certain
costs directly attributed to the operations of that company including altocable pavroll and related expenses.

Fellow subsidiary wnderickings

The net recovery of debts by Virgin Media Limited relating to the customers of fellow subsidiary undertakings.
namely Virgin Media Vobile Finance Limited. through centralised debt collection and treasury operations,
eenerates trading balances which are offset by operating cxpenses and capital purchases that are also recharged
by Virgin Media Limited. Virgin Media Limited is an indirect subsidiary of the company whilst Virgin Media
Mobile Finance Limited is outside the group headed by the company.

Liberty Group undertakings

The company s ultimate parent is Liberty Global ple which also controls the group and the Virgin Media group.
Certain debt raised by the group has been passed up to Liberty Global entities that sit outside the Virgin Media
group. The debt of £4.926.4 million {sec note 12) atiracts interest which Liberty Global entities pay to the group
according to the terms of each loan arrangement.

{erms and conditions of transactions with related parties

The terms of the loans payable to parent undertakings are as outlined in note 18. Certain expenses are
specifically auributable to each company in the group. Where costs are incurred by Virgin Media Limited on
behalf of other group companies. expenses are allocated to the other group companies on a basis that. in the
opinion of the directors, is reasonable.

Compensation of key management personnel (in¢cluding directors)
The compensation paid or payable to key management for emplovee services is shown below:

2019 2018
£ millien £ mililion
Short-term employee benefits 105 4.2
Post-cmployment benefits 0.1 -
Non-equity incentive plan 33 3.
Share based payments 46 1.9
18.5 9.5

Key management represents directors and members of Virgin Media®s Executive Committee.
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2% Principal subsidiary undertakings

The investments in which the group held at least 20%0 of the nominal value ot any class of share capital. all of
which are unlisted. are as follows. Allare registered in England and W ales unless otherwise noted.

Proportion
of
vating rights
and
g . Principul
Subsidiary Holding  shares held o
wCiivite s
Direct shareholdings of Virgin Media Finance PLC
Virgin Media [nvestment Holdings Limited Ordinary 100%0 Finance
Indirect shareholdings
NTL. (Triangler LLC =  Common Stock 100% Holding
ntl Business Limited Ordinarv 100°%6 Telecoms
ntl CableComms Group Limited Ordinary 100%0 Holding
ntl Glasgow z Ordinary 36% Telecoms
ntl Kirklees Ordinary 32% Telecoms
Virgin Media Business Limited Ordinary 100°% Telecoms
Virgin Media [nvestments Limited Ordinary 100% Finance
Virgin Media [reland Limited W Ordinary 100% Telecoms
Virgin Media Limited Ordinary 100% Telecoms
Virgin Media Payments Limited Ordinary 100%0 Collections
Virgin Media Senior {nvestments Limited Ordinary 100% Holding
Virgin Media Wholesale Limited Ordinary F00% Telecoms
Virgin Mobile Telecoms Limited Ordinary 100%0 Telecoms
[ndirect shareholdings - guaranteed under section 349 { C ) of the Companies Act 2006
BCMV Limited Ordinary 100% Dormant
Birmingham Cable Corporation Limited Ordinary 100 Dormant
Birmingham Cable Limited Ordinary 10020 Dormant
Cable London Limited Ordinary 100%0 Dormant
CableTel Herts and Beds Limited Ordinary 100% Dormant
CableTel Northern [reland Limited B Ordinary 1007 Dormant
Cable el Surrey and Hampshire i.imited Ordinary 160%, Dormant
Eurobell (Holdings) Limited Ordinary 100% Holding
ntl (B) Limited Ordinary 100% Holding
ntl {Broadland) [imited Ordinary 100°0 Dormant
ntl (CWCy Corporation Limited Ordinary 100% Dormant
ntl (South East) Limited Ordinary 100°, Dormant
ntl (v Ordinan 100°6 Dormant
ntl CableComms Surrey Ordinary 100% Dormart
nt] Midlands Limited Ordinary 104%0 Dormant
ntl National Networks Eimited Ordinary 100%0 Dormant
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29 Principal subsidiary undertakings {continued)

Indirect shareholdings - guaranteed under section 349 ( C ) of the Companies Act 2006 (continued)
Proportion
of
voling rigrhls
andd
Principal

Holding  shares held .
aclivies

Subsiclicry
) t
atl Pension Trustees [ Limited Ordinary 1005 Corporate
. Trustee
. . . & at
ot Pension Trustees Limited Ordinary 100%0 arporate
Trustee
nt! South Central Limited Ordinary 100%0 Dormant
nt! [elecom Services Limited Ordinary 100% Dormant
C t
ntl Trustees Limited Ordinary 100 orporate
Trustee
lelewest Communications (Dundee & Perthy Limited & Ordinary 100%¢ Dormant
lelewest Communications {Glenrothes) Limited ) Ordinary 100% o Dormant
I‘.r.’lc.west Communications {Midlands and North West) Ordinar 100° Dormant
Limited -
Telewest Communications {North East) Limited Ordinary 1004 Holding
Telewest Communications (Scotland) Linted A Ordinary [100°g Dormant
Telewest Communications (South East) Limited Ordinary L0020 Dormant
Telewest Communications (South Westy Limited Qrdinary [06)e g Dormant
Ielewest Communications { Tyneside) Limited Ordinary 100° Holding
Telewest Communications Cuable Limited Ordinary 100% Dormant
Theseus No.! Limited Ordinary 100% Holding
i'heseus No.2 Limited Ordinary 1% Holding
- . . . . C te
Virgin Media Employee Medical Trust Limited Ordinany 1009, wpnra <
= - i Trustee
Virgin Media PCHC I Limited Ordinary 1009, Dormant
Virgin Media PCHC Limited Ordinary 100°%0 Dormant
VM Pransfers (No 33 Limited Ordinary 100%0 Dormant
Yorkshire Cable Communications Limited Ordinary 100° Dermant

I'he company will issue a guarantee under Section 394 C) of the Companies Act 2006 for the vear ended 31
December 2019 in respect of the wholly owned dormant subsidiaries listed above in section “indirect
shareholdings  guaranteed under Section 394 () of the Companies Act 20067, The company guarantees all
cutstanding liabilities to which the subsidiary company is subject o at 31 December 2019, until they are
satisfied in full and the guaraatee is enforceable against the company by any person 10 whom the subsidiary
company is liable in respect of those liabilities. These dormant subsidiaries have taken advantage of the
exemption from preparing individual accounts for the year ended 31 December 2019 by virtue of Section
394 A) of the Companies Act 2006.

The guarantee under Section 394C) of the Companies Act 2006 is in respect of the above subsidiaries, the
majority of which are | 00%e owned. etther directly or indirectly.
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29 Principal subsidiary undertakings (continued)

Indirect shareholdings - guaranteed under section 479 ( A ) of the Companies Act 2006

Fraportion

ot

voting rights

arnd
Holding  shares held Principal
dCHvies

Subsidiary

Bitbuzz UK Limited Ordinary 100°q Telecoms
Cable on Demand Limited Ordinary 100°%, Dormant
Casey Cablevision Limited ¥ Ordinary 100%, Telecoms
Channe| 6 Broadcasting Limited Y Ordinary t00%, Telecoms
Cullen Broadcasting Limited P Ordinary 100%0 Telecoms
Diamond Cable Communications Limited Ordinary 130°%0 Holding
Flextech Limited Ordinany 100%0 Dormant
General Cable Limited Ordinary 130%0 Holding
Kish Media Limited b4 Ordinary 0% Dormant
Matcheo Limited Ordinary 76% Dormant
nt] (CWC) Limited Ordinary 100%a Dormant
NTL CableComms Group, LLC = Common stock 100%a Dormant
ntl Communications Services Limited Ordinary 100% Holding
ntl Glasgow Holdings Limited n Ordinany 31% Holding
ntl Kirklees Holdings Limited u Ordinary 3% Holding
ntl Rectangle Limited Ordinary 100" Holding
P.B.N. Holdings ‘¥ Ordinary 100%0 Holding
Telewest Communications Networks Limited Ordinary 100°0 Holding
Tefewest Limited Ordinary 100% tlolding
I'ullamore Beta Limited W Ordinary 100% 0 Holding
TV Three Enterprises Limited hd Ordinary 100°0 Dormant
1V Three Sales Limited ¥ Ordinary 100, Dormant
UPC Broadband ireland Limited W Ordinary 100% Holding
Virgin Media Bristol LLC = Common stock 100" Finance
Virgin Media Finco Limited Ordinary 100°% Finance
Virgin Media Operations Limited Ordinary 100%, Holding
Virgin Media Secretaries Limited Ordinan 100% Dormant
Virgin Media Secured Finance PLC Ordinary 100°% Finance
Virgin Media SFA Finance Limited Ordinarn 100%, Finance
Virgin Media Television Limited W Ordinary 100° Telecoms
Virgin WiFi Limited Ordinary 100%0 Telecoms
VD Treland Group Limited Ordinary 100%0 Holding

All companies are registered at 300 Brook Drive. Reading. United Kingdom. RG2 6L L . unless otherwise noted

below:
[ Unit 3, Blackstaff Road. Kennedy Way Industrial Estate. Belfast. BT 9AP
¥ Macken House, 3940 Mayor Street Upper. Dublin 1. D01 COWS

¥ 1 South Gyle Crescent Lane. Edinburgh. EH12 OEG
= 251 Liule Falls Drive. Wilmington. DE 19808, These entities are registered in the 1S A,
€2 1550 Wewatta Street, Suite 1000, Denver. CO 80202

~]
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30

31

Principal subsidiary undertakings (continued)

The company has issued a guarantee under Section 47%C) of the Companies Act 2006 for the year ended 3|
December 2019 in respect of the subsidiaries listed above in section “Indirect shareholdings - guaranteed under
Section 479(C) of the Companies Act 20067, The company guarantees all outstanding liabilities to which the
subsidiary company 5 subject t at 31 December 2019 until they are satistied in full and the guarantee is
enforceable against the company by any persen o whom the subsidiary company (s liable in respect of those
liabilities. These active subsidiaries have taken advantage of the exemption from audit of individual accounts
for the year ended 31 December 2019 by virtue of Section 479( A} of the Companies Act 2006,

The guarantee under Section 479(C} of the Companies Act 2006 is in respect of the above subsidiaries. the
majority of which are 100%0 owned, either directly or indirectly.

Parent underiaking and controlling party
The company's immediate parent undertaking is Virgin Media Communications Limited.

I'he smallest and largest group of which the company is a member and in to which the company 's accounts
were consolidated at 31 December 2019 are Virgin Media Inc. and Liberty Global ple. respectively.

The company's ultimate parent undertaking and controtling party at 31 December 2019 was Liberty Global ple.

Copies af the Virgin Media group accounts referred to above which include the results of the company are
avatlable from the company secretary. Virgin Media. 300 Brook Drive, Reading. United Kingdom. RG2 6L

In addition copies of the consolidated Liberty (Global ple accounts are availabic on Liberty Global's website at
www liberty global.com or from the company secretary, Liberty Global ple. Griffin House. 161 Hammersmith
Road, London. Lnited Kingdom W6 3BS.

Post Balance Sheet Events

COVID-19

In March 2020, the World Health Organization declared the recent outbreak of a novel strain of coronavirus
(COVID-19} to be a global pandemic. In response to the COVID-19 pandemic. emergency measures have been
imposed by governments worldwide. including travel restrictions. restrictions on social activity and the
shutdown of non-essential businesses.

These measures have adversely impacted the global economy. disrupted global supply chains and created
significant volatility and disruption of financial markets. While it is not currently possible to estimate the
duration and severity of the COVID-19 pandemic or the adverse economic impact resulting from the
preventative measures laken to contain or mitigate its outbreak, an extended period of global economic
disruption could have a material adverse impact on our business. financial condition and results of operations in
future periods.

Pending joint venture transaction

On 7 May 2020, Liberty Global entered into a Contribution Agreement with. among others. Telefonica, SA
( Telefonica). Pursuant to this agreement. Liberty Global and Telefonica agreed (o form a 50:50 joint venture.
which will combine Virgin Media's operations in the UK with Telefonica’s mobite business in the UK to create
a nationwide integrated communications provider.

The completion of this transaction is subject to certain conditions. including competition clearance by the
applicable regulatory authoritics. It is anticipated that the transaction will ¢lose around the middle of 2021, The
Contribution Agreement also includes customary termination rights. including a right of the parties to terminate
the agreement if the transaction has not closed within twenty-tour months following the date of the agreement.
which may be extended hy six months under certain cireumstances.
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Post Balance Sheet Events (continued)

Financing transactions

In May 2020, Virgin Media Trade Receivables Financing ple. a third-party special purpose financing entity.
was created for the purpose of facilitating the offering of certain notes. These notes are collateralised by certain
trade receivables of Virgin Vledia. creating a variable interest in which Virgin Media is the primary beneficiary
and. accordingly. Virgin Media. and ultimately Liberts Global. are required to consolidate Virgin Media Trade
Receivables Financing plc. The offering of these notes resulted in net proceeds of £214.4 million.

[n June 2020, Virgin Media completed various financing transactions. as further described below.

Senior notes transactions

The group issued 2030 senior notes with principal amounts of $673 million. The net proceeds. together with the
\ay 2020 proceeds were used to redeem in full €460 million and $388.7 million outstanding principal amcunt
of 2023 senior notes.

The group issued an additional 2030 scnior netes with principal amounts of $230 million €300 million. The net
proceeds from the issuance of these notes were used (1) to redeem in full $497 million outstanding principal
amounts of existing 2024 senior notes and $123.1 million and £44.1 million cutstanding principal amounts of
existing 2022 senior notes and (2} for general corporate purposes.

The new secured notes rank pari-passu with the group's existing secured notes and subject to certain exceptions.
share in the same guarantees and security granted in favour of iis existing secured notes.

Senior secured notes transactions
The group issued 2030 senior secured notes with principal amounts of $650 million and £430 million. The net
proceeds from the issuance of these notes were used (1) to redeem in full £525 million outstanding principal
amounts of existing 2027 senior secured notes, (23 to redeem in full £360 million outstanding principal amounts
of existing 2029 senior secured notes, (3) £80.0 million of the £521.3 million outstanding principal amount of
existing 2025 senior secured notes.

The new senior secured notes rank pari-passu with the group's existing senior secured notes and senior secured
credit facility, and subject to certain exceptions, share in the same guarantees and security granted in favour of
its existing senior secured notes.

Vendor financing notes transactions

Virgin Media Vendor Financing Notes !l Designated Activity Company (Virgin Media Financing 11
Company) and Virgin Media Vendor Financing Notes IV Designated Activity Company (Virgin Media
Financing [V Company. and together with Virgin Media Financing Il Company, the 2020 VM Financing
Companies) were created for the purpose of issuing certain vendor financing notes. The 2020 VM Financing
Companies are third-party special purpose financing entities that are not consolidated by Virgin Nledia or
Liberty Global.

Virgin Media Financing {11 Company issued vendor financing notes with principal amounts of £500 million and
£400 million. Virgin Media Financing [V Company issued vendor financing notes with principal amounts of
$300 million. The net proceeds from the June 2020 Vendor Financing Notes were used by the 2020 VI
Financing Companies to purchase certain vendor-financed receivables of Virgin Media and its subsidiaries from
previously-existing third-party special purpose tinancing entities (the Original VM Financing Companies) and
various other third parties.



Virgin Media Finance PLC
Company Balance Sheet
as at 31 December 2019

Notes 2019 2018
£ million £ million

Fived assets
Investments 3 +.699 4 4.699 4
Current assets
Debtors due after one year 6 2.000.0 2.650.3
Debtors due within one vear 6 339 53.7
Cash at bank and in hand |4 -

2.0353 2.706.0
Creditors: amounts falling due within one vear 7 (329.5) t410.6)
Net current assets 1.705.8 22054
Total assets tess current liabilities 6.405.2 6,994.8
Creditors: amounts fatling due atter more than one
vear 38 (9.013.3) (9.177.0)
Net Habilities {2.608.3) (2.182.1)
Capital and reserves
Share capital 10 0.1 0.1
Share premium account 1 6239 625
Capitat contribution I 3.0 3.0
Accurnulated losses 11 (3.239.3) (2.813.2)
Shareholders' deficit (2.608.3) (21822

The notes on pages 78 to 87 form part of the financial statements.

The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the board and were signed on its behalf on
28 September 2020,

R G MceNeil
Director

Company Registration Number: 43061787
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECENMBER 2019

Share Treasury Profit
Share premium Capital shares and loss
capital account contribution reserve aceount Total
£ million £ million £ million £ million £ milion £ million
At 1 January 2019 0.1 625.9 5.0 - (2.813.2y  (2.182.2)
Comprehensive income for the vear
Loss for the vear - - - - (426.1}) {426.1)
As at December 2019 0.1 625.9 5.0 - (3.239.3) (2.608.3)
STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018
Share Ireasury Profit
Share premium  Capital shares and loss
capital account contribution reserve account Total
£ million £ million £ million £ million £ million £ million

At 1 January 2018 0.1 3.323.2 3.0 (28802 {2.317.6) (1.,869.5)
Comprehensive income for the year
LLoss for the vear - - - - (495.6) (493.6)
Shares issued during the year - 182.9 - 182.9
Shares cancelled during the year - (2.880.2) - 2.880.2 - 0.0
Total transactions with owners - 2.697.3) - 28802 - 182.9
As at December 2018 0.1 625.9 3.0 - (2.813.2y i2.1822)

The notes on pages 78 to 87 form part of these financial statements.
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1 Company information

Virgin Media Finance PLC (the “company ™ is a private company incorporated. domiciled and registered in the
UK The registered number (s 03061787 and the registered address is 300 Brook Drive. Reading. United Kingdom,
RG2 UL,

2 Accounting policies

A summary of the principal accounting policies is ser out below. All accounting policies have been applied
consistently. unless noted helow.

21 Basis of accounting

These financial statements were prepared on a going concern basis and under the historical cost basis in
accordance with the Companies Act 2006 and the Financial Reporting Standard 101 Reduced Disclosure
Framework ("FRS 1317).

In preparing these financial statements, the company applies the recognition. measurement and disclosure
requirements of International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the EL " Adopted [FRSs™), bul makes
amendments where necessary in order to comply with Companies Act 2006 and has set out below where
advantage ot the FRS 101 disclosure exemptions has been taken.

I'he company s ultimate parent undertaking. Liberty Global ple. includes the company in its consolidated financial
statements. T'he consolidated financial statements of Liberty Global plc are prepared in accordance with
Internationai Financial Reporting Standards and are available to the public and may be obtained trom Liberty
Global™s website at www . liberty global.com.

In these financial statements. the company has applied the exemptions available under ' RS 101 in respect of the
tollowing disclosures. where required equivaient disclosures are included within the company s consolidated
financial statements:

e g cash low statement and related notes;

e disclosures in respect of related party transactions with fellow group undertakings:

o disclosures in respect of capital management:

* the effects of new but not yet effective IFRSs;

o disclosures in respect of the compensation of key management personnel, and

« disclosures of transactions with a management entity that provides key management personnel services to
the company.

As the consolidated financial statements of the company include the equivalent disclosures. the company has
also taken the exemptions under FRS 101 available in respect ot the following disclosures:

¢ IFRS 2 Share Based Payvments in respect of group settied share based pavments: and
e certain disclosures required by 1FRS I3 Fair Value Measurement and the discbosures required by [FRS 7
Financial [nstrument Disclosures.

No protit and loss account is presented by the company as permitted by Section +)8 ot the Companies Act 2006,
2.2 Going concern

Uhe financial statements have been approved on the basis that the company remains a going voncern. The following
paragraphs summarise the basis on which the directors have reached their conclusion.

ftis Virgin Media's practice for operational and financial management to be undertaken at a vroup level rather than
for individual entities that are whaolly vwoed by the group. Treasury operations and cash management for all of
Liberty Globals wholly owned subsidiaries are managed on a Liberty Global group basis. \s part of normal
business practice. regular cash How forecasts tor both short and long term commitments are undertaken at group
level.
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2 Accounting policies (continued)
2.2 Going concern {continued)

Forecasts and projections prepared for the Virgin Media group as a whole. indicate that cash on hand, together with
cash from operations, repayment of amounts due to Virgin MAMedia from the Liberty Global group and undrawn
revolving credit facilities. are expected to be sufficient for the Virgin Media group’s and hence the company’s cash
requirements through to at least 12 months from the approval of these financial statements.

Whilst the detailed cash flow forecasts are prepared at the group level, the directors have also assessed the position
of the company. Notwithstanding net liabilities of £2.608.3 million as at 3| December 2019 and a loss for the year
end of £426.1 million. this assessment indicates that, taking account of reasonably possible downsides. the company
will have sufficient resources. through funding from fellow subsidiary companies to meet its liabilities as they fall
due for that period. Virgin Media Inc has indicated its intention to continue to make such funds available to the
company as are needed.

As with any company placing reliance on other group entities for financial support. the directors acknow ledge that
there can be no certaingy that this support will continue although, at the date of approval of these financial
statements. they have no reason to believe that it will not do so. Consequently, the directors are confident that the
company will have sufficient funds to continue to meet its liabilities as they fall due for at least 12 months from the
date ot approval of the financial statements and have prepared the financial statements on a going concern basis.
Consideration of the potential impact ot COVID-1% has not altered this concluston.

2.3 Foreign currencies

Transactions in foreign currencies are recorded at the rate ruling at the date of the transaction. Monetary assets and
ligbilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the rate of exchange ruling at the balance sheet date.
The resulting exchange differences are taken to the profit and loss account.

2.4 Interest bearing loans and borrowings

All loans and borrowings are initially recognised at fair value less directly attributable transaction costs. Afler initial
recognition, interest bearing loans and borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective
nterest method.

Gains and losses arising on the repurchase, settlement or otherwise canccllation of liabilities are recognised
respectively in finance income and finance costs.

Finance costs which are incurred in connection with the issuance of debt are deferred and set off agzinst the
borrowings 1o which they relate. Deferred finance costs are amortised over the term of the related debt using the
effective interest method.

2.5 Investments

[nvestments are recorded at cost. less provision for impairment as appropriate.  The company assesses at each
reporting date whether there is an indication that an investment may be impaired. I1fany such indication exists. the
company makes an estimate of the investment’s recoverable amount. Where the carrying amount of an investment
exceeds its recoverable amount. the investment is considered impaired and is written down to its recoverable
amount. A previously recognised impairment loss (s reversed enly if there was an event not foreseen in the original
impairment calculations, such as a change in use of the investment or a change in economiv conditions. The
reversal of Impairment loss would be to the extent of the lower of the recoverable amount and the carrying amount
that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the investment in prior years.

2.6 Derivative financial instruments and hedging
The group has established policies and procedures to govern the management of its exposure 1o interest rate and
foreign currency exchange rate risks. through the use of derivative financial instruments. inctuding interest rate

swaps. cross-currency interest rate swaps and foreign currency forward rate contracts.

Derivative financial instruments are initially recognised at fair value on the date on which a derivative contract is
entered into and are subsequently remeasured at fair value at each balance sheet date.
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Derivatives are recognised as financial assets when the fair value is positive and as Habilities when the fair value is
negative.

2z Accounting policies (continued)
2.6 Derivative financial instruments and hedging (continued)

The toreign currency forward rate contracts. interest rate swaps and cross-currency interest rate swaps are valued
using internal models based on observable inputs. counterparty valuations or market transactions in either the listed
or over-the-counter markets. adjusted for non-performance risk. Non-performance risk is based upon quoted credit
default spreads for counterparties to the contracts and swaps. Derivative contracts which are subject to master
netting arrangements are not offset and have not provided. nor require. cash collateral with any counterparty.

While these instruments are subject to the risk of loss from changes in exchange rates and interest rates. these losses
would generally be offset by gains in the related exposures. Financial instruments are only used 1o hedge underlying
commercial exposures. The group does not enter into derivative financial instruments for speculative trading
purposes. nor does it enter into derivative financial instruments with a level of complexity or with a risk that is
greater than the exposure to be managed.

For derivatives which are designated as hedges. the hedging relationship is documented at its inception. T'his
documentation identifies the hedging instrument, the hedged item or transaction. the nature of the risk being hedged
and how effectiveness will be measured throughout its duration. Such hedges are expected at inception to be highly
effective,

The group designates certain derivatives as either fair value hedges, when hedging exposure to variability in the tair
value ol recognised assets or iiabilities or firm commitments, or as cashflow hedges. when hedging expusure to
variabifity in cash flows that are either attributable to a particular risk associated with a recognised asset or liability
or a highly probable forecast transaction.

Derivatives that are not part of an effective hedging relationship. as set out in IFRS 9. must be classified as held for
trading and measured at fair value through profit or loss.

The treatment of gains and losses arising from revaluing derivatives designated as hedging instruments depends
upon the nature of the hedging relationship and are treated as follows:

Cash flow hedges

For cash fiow hedges, the effective portion of the gain or loss on the hedging instrument is recognised directly in
other comprehensive income, while the ineffective portion is recognised in profit or loss. Amounts taken te other
vomprehensive income are reclassified to the profit and foss account when the hedged transaction is recognised in
profitor foss. such as when a forecast sale or purchase oceurs, in the same line of the profit and loss account as the
recognised hedged item. Where the hedged item is the cost of a non-financial asset or Hability. the gains and losses
previously accumulated in equity are transferred to the initial measurement of the cost of the non-financial asset or
liability .

It a forecast transaction is no longer expected o oceur. the gain or loss accumulated in equity is recognised
immediately in profit or foss. If the hedging instrument expires or is sold, terminated or exercised without
replacement or rollever, or il its designation as a hedge is revoked, amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income remain in equity until the forecast transaction occurs and are reclassified to the profit and
loss account.

Fair value hedges

For fair value hedges. the changes in the fair value of the hedging instrument are recognised in profit or loss
immediately. together with any changes in the fair value of the hedged asset or liability that are attributable to the
hedged risk. The change in the fair value of the hedging instrument and the change in the hedged item attributable to
the hedged risk are recognised in the line of the profit and loss account relating to the hedged item,

It the hedging instrument expires or is sold. terminated or exercised without replacement or roliover, or if its
designation as a hedge is revohed, then the fair value adjustment to the carnving amount of the hedged item arising
from the hedged risk is amortised to profit or loss from that dare.
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3 Judgements in applying accounting policies and hey sources of estimation uncertainty
In the process of applying the company “s accounting policies which are described above. management has not made

any critical judgements that have a significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements. except
tor:

Carrying value of investments

Investments are held at cost less any necessary provision fur impairment. W here the impairment assessment did not
provide any indication of impairment. no provision is required. If any such indications exist. the carrving value of
an mvestment is written down 10 its recoverable amount.

Recoverability of intercompany debtors

[ntercompany debtors are stated at their recoverable amount less any necessary provision. Recoverability of
ittercompany debtors is assessed annually and a provision is recognised if any indications exist that the debtor is not
considered recoverabie.

Fair valye measurement of financial instruments
Management uses valuation techniques to determine the fair value of financial instruments (where active market
yuoles are not available) and non-financial assets. This involves developing estimates and assumptions consistent

with how market participants would price the instrument.

Management bases its assumptions on observable data as far as possible but this is not always available. [n that case
management uses the best information available. Estimated fair values may vary from the actual prices that would
be achieved in an arm’s length transaction at the reporting date {see note 9).

4 Loss attributable to members of the parent company

The loss in the accounts of the parent company was £426.1 million t2018: loss of £495.6 million).

5 Investments

£ million
Cost and net book value:
At | January 2016 +.699.4
At 31 December 2019 Wi-ilg()i():_
Net book value:
At 31 December 2019 31,6004
At 31 December 2018 4.609 4

Details of the principal investments in which the group or the company holds at least 20% of the nominal value of
any class of share capital. all of which are unlisted. can be secn in note 29 to the consolidated financial statements.

In the opinion of the directors the aggregate value of the investments in subsidiary undertakings is not less than the
amount at which they are stated in the tinancial statements.
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6 Debtors
2019 2018
£ million £ million
Due after one year

Loan notes due from group undertakings 1.835.0 22778
Dertvative financial assets 167.0 372.%
2,000.0 2.650.3

Due within one year
Derivative financial assets 339 557
339 53.7

Amounts owed by group undertakings due alter one year represent loan notes which had a carrving value of
£1,833.0 million (2018 - £2.227.8 million} at the balance sheet date. L.oan notes are denominated 1n sterling,

bear interest of 4.89% (subject to adjustment) and mature n April 2026.

Creditors: amounts falling due within one vear

7
2019 2018
£ million £ million
Derivative financial liabilities b 55
tnterest on toan notes duc to group undertakings 442 19.9
Interest payable on senior notes 231 28.6
Amounts owed to group undertakings AR 75.6
L.oan notes due to group undertakings 75, 281.0
329.5 3106

L_can notes due to group undertakings due within one vear include foan notes which had a carrving value of
£175.8 million (2018 - £281.0 millicn) at the balance sheet date. [Loan notes are denominated in sterling and US

dollar. bear interest ranging from 1.32% to 7.33% and arc repayable on demand.

Amounts owed to group undertakings are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.

8  Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year

2019 2018

£ million £ million

Loan notes due to group undertakings 7.789.7 7.608.4
Senior notes 11873 1.558.7
Derivative financial liabilities 36.3 2.9
90135 9.177.0

Loan notes due to group undertakings tafling duc after more than one year had a carrving value of £7.786.7
million (20£8 - £7.608.4) at the balance sheet date. Loan notes are denominated in sterling and US dollar. bear
interest at 4.89%6 (subject 1o adjustment), and mature between Aprif 2026 and January 2028.
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Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one vear (continued)

Borrowings are repayable as follows:

2019 2018
£ million £ million
Amounts falling due:
In more than two vears but not more than five vears 3092 1315
In more than five years 8.50-4.3 Q.025.5
9.013.3 9.177.0
Borrowings not wholly repasable within five years are as follows:
2019 2018
£ million £ million
[Loan notes due to group undertakings 7.78G.7 7.608 4
Senior notes 6781 1. 407.2
Derivatives labilities 36.5 9.9
8.3043 9.023.5
Total borrowings comprise: 2019 2018
£ miilion £ million
5.25% LS. dollar senior notes due 2022 388 19.6
4.875%, LS. doklar senior notes due 2022 34.0 383
5.125%, Sterling senior notes due 2022 4.1 441
6.00% U.S. dollar senior notes due 2024 374.7 360.0
6.373% Sterling dollar senior notes due 2024 - 300.0
3.75% L.S dollar senior notes due 2025 2931 313.8
4.5% Euro senior notes due 2023 389.4 413.3
1.194.1 1.569.1
Less issue costs {(6.8) (104
1.187.3 |,558.7

Total senior notes

Financial instruments
The company has the following senior notes inissue as at 31 December 2019:

1} 5.25%, senior notes due |5 February 2022 the principal amount at maturity is $51.5 million
payable semi-annuaily on 13 February and 15 August commencing I3 August 2012,

2} 4.875% senior notes due |5 February 2022 - the principal amount at maturity is $70.6 million.

pavable semi-annually on 13 February and 15 August commencing 15 February 2015,

3) 5.125%, senjor notes due 15 February 2022 — the principal amount at maturity is £44.1 million
pavable semi-annually on |5 February and 15 August commencing L5 February 2013,

4} 6.00°%, senior notes due 15 October 2024 - the principal amoeunt at maturity is $497.0 million
payable scmi-annually on 13 April and 13 October commencing 15 April 2015,

5} 3.73% senior noted due 15 January 2025 the principal amount at maturity is $388.7 million
pavable semi-annually on |5 January and |5 July commencing 15 July 20135,

6) +.30% senior notes due 15 January 2023 - the principal amount at maturity is €460.0 miilion
pavable semi-annually on 13 January and |5 July commencing 15 July 20135,
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Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year (continued)

Virgin MVedia Inc.. a parent company of the company. and all the intermediate holding companies, guarantee
the senior notes on a senior basis. Virgin Media [nvestment Holdings Limited. a direct wholly-owned
subsidiary of the company, guarantees the senior notes on a senior subordinated basis and has no significant
assets of its own other than its investments in its subsidiaries. The company has given a full and unconditional
guarantee of all amounts payable under the terms ot'the Virgin Media group’s senior secured credit facility and
senior secured notes.

In June 2020, Virgin Media completed various financing transactions, see note 31 in the consolidated financial
statements,

Financial instruments

2019 2018
£ million £ million
Financial assets

Financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss 2009 4282
Financial assets thar are debt instruments measured at amortised cost 1.§33.0 2.277.8
2.033.9 2,706.0

Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities measured at fair valuc through profit or loss (431} 154
Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost 19.299.9) (9.372.2)

19,343.00 (9.587.6)

Financial assets measured at fair value through protit or loss comprise interest rate swaps and cross currency
interest rate swaps.

Financial assets measured at amartised cost comprise amounts owed by group undertakings.

Financial liabilitics measured at fair value through profit or loss comprise interest rate swaps and cross currency
interest rate swaps and certain other loans.

Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost comprise senior secured notes net of issue costs. interest
payable on senior notes. amounts owed to group undertakings. accruals and deferred income.

Derivative financial instruments are designed to mitigate the risks experienced by the company. l'he company
has obligations in a combination ot U.S. dollars and sterling at fixed and variable interest rates. As a result, the
company is exposed to variability in its cash flows and camings resulting from changes in foreign currency
exchange rates and interest rates.

The group's objective in managing its exposure to interest rate and toreign currency exchanuge rates is to
decrease the volatility of it earnings and cash flows caused by changes in the underlying rates. The group has
established policies and procedures to govern these exposures and has entered into derivative financial
instrurnents including interest rate swaps. cross-currency interest swaps and foreign currency forward rate
contracts. |t is the group's policy not to enter into derivative financial instruments tor speculative trading
purposes, nor 0 enter into derivative financial instruments with a ievel of complexity or with a risk that is
greater than the exposure to be managed. The amounts below include amounts relating to short term as well as
long term creditors.

Financial and operational risk management is undertaken as part of the group's eperations as a whole. These are
considered in more detail in the consolidated financial statements of the group.

I he derivative financial instruments held by the company are recorded at fair value on the balance sheet in
accordance with I[FRS 9 Fimancial [nstruments. The fair values of these derivative tinancial instruments are
valued using internal models based on observable inputs. counterparty valuations. or market transactions in
cither the listed or over-the counter markets, adjusted for non-performance rish.
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Financial instruments (continued)

Cross currency swap contracts

The company holds the following outstanding swap agreements with another company within the Virgin Media

aroup:
Final Hedge type Notional amount  Notional amount
maturity due to due from
date counterparty counterparty

000 *000
Feb-22 ~ot designated $63.271 £41 462
Feb-22 Mot designated 574310 £52.219
Oct-24 Not designated £ 197000 £3406,250
Jan-26 Not designated $3.400,000 E2.389 234

Interest rate swap contracts

Interest rate due
from counterparty

Interest rate due
t0 counterparty

3.3% 3.7%
49% 349
6.0% 1.3%
3.500 N.quﬂ

The company holds the following outstanding swap agreements with another company within the Virgin Media

group:
Final Hedge tvpe Notional amount  Notional amount
maturity due to due from
date counterparty counterparty

000 000
Jan-27 Not designated £400.,000 £400,000
Nov-27 Not designated £300.000 £300.000

Share capital
Miotted. called up and fullv paid
76.184 (2018: 76.18-b) ordinary shares of £1 each

Reserves

Sherre cupital

Interest rate due
from counterparty

Interest rate due
to counterparty

4.204% 1.80%

4.29% 4.83%
2019 2018
£ 000 £000
76 76

The balance classified as share capital represents the nominal value on issue of the company's share capital.

comprising £1 ordinary shares.

Shure premium aveount

Share premium represents the amount of consideration received for the company's share capital in excess of the

nominal value of shares issued.

Capital contribution

The £3 million capital contribution was received from Virgin Media Communications Limited as part of a

comprehensive group restructuring in 2006.

[o0]
N
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Reserves (continued)
Freasury shares reserve

1he treasury share reserve represented the amount of the company’s equity share capital together with share
premium held by VMFEH Limited, which was a wholly owned subsidiary of Virgin Media Finance PLC. VMVEH
Limited acquired 19.7% of the company’s shares from Virgin Media Communications Limited on 29
December 2014, The company subsequently acquired 1000 of the share capital of VMFH Limited from Virgin
Media Communications Limited. During 2018, as result of a group wide restructure. VMFH distributed its
shares in the company to the company which were subsequently cancelled.

Aecamalated fosses

Includes all current and prior period retained profits and losses.

Auditor's and directors’ remuneration

Fees paid to KPMG [LLLP and its associates for non-audit services to the parent company itselt are not disclosed
in the individual accounts of Virgin Media Finance PL.C because group financial statements are prepared which
disclose such fees on a consalidated basis.

The directors received no remuneration for gualifying services as directors ot this company. All directors’
remuneration is paid and disciosed in the group’s financial statements.

Guarantees

I'he company, along with fellow group undertakings. is party to a senior secured credit facility with a syndicate
of banks. As at 31 December 2019, this comprised term facilities that amounted 1o £4.015 million {2018 -
£3.364 million) and an outstanding balance of £nil (2018 - £nil) which was borrowed under revolving facilities
of £1.000 miliion (2018 - £675 million ;. Borrowings under the tacilities are secured againsi the assets of certain
members of the group including those of this company.

[n addition. a fellow group undertaking has issued senior secured notes which, subject to certain exceptions,
share the same guarantees and security which have been granted in favour of the senior secured credit facility.
The amount outstanding under the senior secured notes at 31 December 2019 amounted to £4.491 millien
{2018 - £4.933 million). Borrowings under the notes are secured against the assets of certain members of the
group including those of this company.

Furthermore, a fellow group underiaking has issued senior notes for which the company. along with certain
fellow group undertakings. has guaranteed the notes on a senior subordinated basis. The amount outstanding

under the senior notes as at 31 December 2019 amounted to approximately £1.194 miliion (2018 - £1.570
million).

The company has joint and several liabilities under a group VA1 registration.
Parent undertaking and controlling party
The company's immediate parent undertaking is Virgin Media Communications Limited.

The smallest and largest groups of which the company is a member and in to which the company s accounts
were consolidated at 3! December 2019 are Virgin Media Finance PLC and Liberty Global ple, respectively.

The company's ultimate parent undertaking and controliing party at 31 December 2019 was Libenty Global ple.

Copies of group accounts referred to abeve which include the results of the company are available from the
company secretary, Virgin Media. 300 Brook Drive. Reading, United Kingdom, RG2 60 L

In addition copies of the consolidated Fiberty Global ple accounts are available on Liberts Global's website at
www. libertvglobal.com or from the company secretary. Liberty Global ple, Griffin House, 161 Hammersmith
Road. London. United Kingdom We 8BS,

86



Virgin Media Finance PLC
Notes to the Company Financial Statements
for the yvear ended 31 December 2019

15

Post Balance Sheet Events

COVID-i9

[n March 2020, the World Health QOrganisation declared the recent outbreak of a novel strain ot coronavirus
1COVID-19) to be a giobal pandemic. In response to the COVID-19 pandemic. emergency measures have been
imposed by governments worldwide. including travel restrictions. restrictions on social activinn and the
shutdown of non-essential busingsses.

I'hese measures have adversely impacted the global economy. disrupted global supply chains and created
significant volatility and disruption of financial markets. While it is not currently possible to estimate the
duration and severity of the COVID-19 pandemic or the adverse economic impact resulting from the
preventative measures taken to contain or mitigate its outbreak. an extended period of global economic
disruption could have a material adverse impact on our business. financial condition and resuits of eperations in
future periods.

Pending joint venture transaction

On 7 May 2020, Liberty Global entered into a Contribution Agreement with, among others, Telefonica, SA
( 'elefonica). Pursuant to this agreement. Liberny Glebal and Telefonica agreed to form a 30:30 joint venture.
which will combine Virgin Media's operations in the UK with Telefanica’s mobile business in the UK to create
a nationwide integrated communications provider.

e completion of this transaction is subject 1o certain conditions. including competition clearance by the
applicable regulatory authorities. [t is anticipated that the transaction will close around the middle of 2021, The
Contribution Agreement also includes customary termination rights, inctuding a right of the parties to terminate
the agreement it the transaction has not closed within twenty-four morths following the date of the agreement.
which may be extended by six months under certain circumstances.

Financing transactions

In June 2020, Virgin Media completed vartous financing transactions, as further described below.

Senior notes transactions

The company issued 2030 senior notes with principal amounts of $673 million. ['he net proceeds. together with
the May 2020 proceeds were used to redeem in full €460 million and $388.7 millien outstanding principal
amount of 2023 sentor notes.

The company issued an additional 2030 senior notes with principal amounts of $230 million €500 millien. The
net proceeds from the issuance of these notes were used (1) to redeem in full $497 million outstanding principal
amounts of existing 2024 senior notes and $123.1 million and £44.1 million cutstanding principal amounts of
existing 2022 senior notes and (2) for general corporate purposes.

The new secured notes rank pari-passu with the group's existing secured notes and subject to certain exceptions.
share in the same cuarantees and security granted in favour of its existing secured notes.
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